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Tuesday, May 30, 2006

     --- On commencing at 10:05 a.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Good morning.

     MS. NOWINA:  Today is day 5 and the final day of the hearing of application RP-2005-0520, submitted by Union Gas Limited, for an order or orders approving or fixing rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission, and storage of gas in the fiscal year 2007.

     Today we will hear argument from all parties that wish to submit argument.  Looking at the schedule and how many people wish to submit argument, the average amount of time that each party will have is around 15 minutes.  
That's not saying each of you have to stick to 15 minutes.  I'm assuming that the applicant may need a little more time, but that's the average I'd ask you to consider.  If you go well over that average, you're impacting someone who follows you.

     Are there any preliminary matters?  No?  


With that, Mr. Smith.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:
     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     Members of the Board, as the Board will be aware there has been an extensive settlement in this proceeding, the result of which that this Board has before it only five remaining issues, those issues being 3.15, 3.16, 6.1, 6.2, and 6.3.

     Broadly, those five issues ask two questions:  One, in relation to Union's risk-management program, and two, in relation to rate design.  And on that point, there are really only two issues under rate design, which are the M2 directive and the increase in the fixed monthly charge for this Board to consider.

     Now, I've divided my submissions into those two categories, dealing with risk management and rate design. 

I'd like to deal with risk management first, if I may.

     The evidence with respect to risk management can be found, or Union's evidence, at Exhibit D1, tab 1, pages 

15-19, and Exhibit D.1, tab 1, appendix A.

     Specifically, Union seeks Board pre-approval in this proceeding of Union's 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan. 

Union does not seek any other order with respect to its risk management plan.  Its commodity risk management plan was reviewed thoroughly by an independent consultant, this

Board and intervenors in Union's most recent rate case, RP-2003-0063.

     There are intervenors who, it appears, advocate the discontinuance of risk management, and I will address their arguments as I believe they will unfold in my argument in-chief, although there may be some left for reply.

     In my submission, first, the Board has considered the issue of risk management already.  Union's plan was found to provide value to ratepayers.  The plan is unchanged.  The reasons for its acceptance in RP-2003-0063 are as valid today as they were then.

     If anything, the evidence responds to the concern expressed by the Board in Enbridge's recent proceeding EB-2005—0001.  At the customer level, risk management has reduced volatility, specifically in the magnitude of the rate riders necessary to clear the purchased gas variance account.

     Secondly, the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan is consistent with, and indeed is already a Board-approved component of Union's risk management plan.  The plan is consistent with industry best practices.

     Turning to the first issue, Board previous approval. 

Union's current risk management plan was reviewed and approved by the Board in RP-2003-0063.  By way of background, Union has been engaged in risk management for a number of years, stating back into the ‘90s.  In RP-2001-0029, Union agreed to retain an independent consult to review its commodity risk management plan.  Union retained Risk Management Incorporated, RMI. 


RMI is headed by a gentleman by the name of John Snell, a leading expert on risk management.  RMI's customer base represents approximately 30 percent of residential and commercial natural gas consumption in North America.

The reference for that can be found at J.1.58, page 6.

     RMI reviewed Union's risk management plan, filed a report in respect of it, and that report can be found at

Exhibit M.4.1, tab 2, which incidentally was Exhibit D.2, tab 1, in the last rate case.

     In summary, RMI's conclusion was that Union's plan was consistent with industry best practices, its objectives were appropriate and in line with those of similarly situated utilities, and RMI also found that the checks and balances in place with respect to the plan were appropriate.

     And there is, Madam Chair, members of the Board, a very good summary of what RMI did and what its conclusions were in Exhibit M.4.1, tab 4, which is the Board's decision in RP-2003-0063.  RMI's conclusions can be found specifically at pages 12, 13, 14, and 15 of that decision.

     Now, RMI made a number of recommendations with respect to Union's risk management plan.  These recommendations, which are also set out in the Board's decision, were adopted in large part by Union and were clearly set out in Union's pre-filed in evidence the last rate case.  And that evidence, for the Board's review, is found at Exhibit M.4.1, tab 1, which is the pre-filed evidence of Mr. Mark Isherwood, director of acquisition, and Mr. David Dent, who was the manager of gas supply.

     Now, the RMI report also considered the issue of whether or not Union ought to be engaged in risk management at all.  And RMI observed that over 80 percent of commissions regulating natural gas utilities across North America allow for commodity risk management as a tool to reduce volatility.  It also observed that the concept of not engaging in risk management is potentially the riskiest position at all.


This was put forward in the report.  It was the subject of Mr. Snelson's cross-examination, and it found its way into the Board decision.  At page 14 of the Board decision in RP-2003-0063, the Board noted Mr. Snelson's testimony, where he stated:

"The concept of not hedging is potentially the most risky position that one might take, because you're assuming the total risk of the market in anticipation of trying to get the lowest price, and there is, again, a risk reward to the marketplace that makes that extremely risky.  You have no price  stability.  You have no hedge against volatility.  And it is, statistically speaking, a very risky thing to do."


Now, as Mr. Adams fairly observed, parties had the opportunity to review the evidence of RMI, review the evidence of Union Gas, ask interrogatories, conduct cross-examination, and file evidence if they chose, although none did.

     Many people did cross-examine on this evidence, including specifically Energy Probe.  It was a significant issue for them.  Superior Energy Management, Ms. DeMarco's client, also cross-examined.  And their cross-examinations are included in my book of documents at tab three.

     In the result, as the Board has heard, the Board approved Union's risk management plan and its adoption of the specific recommendations made by RMI.

     The Board found at page 17 that:

"Union's risk management plan does provide value to ratepayers and is, therefore, appropriate and that the specific changes Union is proposing to implement in the 2004 rate year are reasonable and provide an opportunity to enhance the value of the program."

That was the Board's conclusion.

     And I ask, why is that important, for two reasons. 

One, as I indicated, Union is not proposing any changes to its Board-approved risk management plan.  As I will deal with in a minute, the 24-month plan is not a change to Union's applicant plan.  This came through, in my submission, loud and clear in Mr. Sommerville's questions to Mr. Simpson where he indicated that the tools with which the 24-month plan will be implemented were already – or were approved by the Board in the last rate case.

     Union is seeking pre-approval as a result of the Natural Gas Forum.

     Second, on a review of the Board decision and the

materials in M.4.1, it is clear that many of the arguments I expect intervenors opposed to risk management will make or were made and rejected by the Board in the last rates case.  There is simply nothing new, despite what you might hear in my submission, which would warrant reconsideration of the appropriateness of risk management.

     Further, in my submission, to the extent there is anything new, it confirms the value of risk management today.

     The first criticism which was raised and which I expect will be raised is broadly the suggestion that risk management is without benefit.  And in my submission, that criticism is not supported by the evidence.  Risk management reduces the volatility of system-gas costs.  This was conceded by Mr. Adams in cross-examination. 

At page 51 of his transcript yesterday, I asked Mr. Adams directly:
"Mr. Smith:  Mr. Adams, you would agree that Union's risk-management program has the effect of reducing the volatility of system-gas prices.

Mr. Adams:  Yes, it does.  

Mr. Smith:  And its 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan also has that effect?



Mr. Adams:  Yes."

That concession is confirmed by Exhibits M.1.9 and M.1.10. 

     As set out in Exhibit M.1.10, risk management has reduced, over the past eight years, the standard deviation in the cost that Union pays in acquiring system-gas by 39 percent.  And that is the figure in the right-hand column of the first box, the first chart, in M.1.10.

     At a customer level, Union has reduced the volatility in the rate rider experienced by customers by 16 percent. 

That is set out in M.1.9.  That figure, 16 percent, can be found in the bottom right-hand corner under the heading: "Risk management impact on PGVA clearing."

     And there are two points to be made with respect to that.  First, the 16 percent reduction in PGVA clearing has been done at an extremely modest cost, both in terms of incremental O&M, which I will deal with, but also in terms of costs when looking at mark-to market.  

If the Board looks at M.1.10, you will see that over the last eight years, the last mark-to-market credits experienced by Union is $8.7 million.  Now, across roughly one million customers, although Union has more than that -- credits or cost, $8.7 million, across roughly one million customers, and eight years, that's at a dollar a customer for eight years.

     Now, I would say parenthetically, as Mr. Simpson indicated in cross-examination, I believe in response to a question from Mr. Millar, $8.7 million is the cost, the total of the costs today.  However, it would be wrong to say that the Board would save $8.7 million if it discontinued risk management.

     As Mr. Simpson pointed out, if you look at other years, for example, 2003, there was an actual benefit of $30.4 million.  So it's a running total, but it's fair to say that these mark to market credits will eventually total to zero.  So the cost of risk management, in my submission, is extremely, extremely modest.       

Now, the reduction in volatility at the customer level -- I'm sorry.  I said, secondly, with respect to the reduction in volatility at the customer level, there's been a reduction of 16 percent.  This was the concern which appears to have been raised in the Enbridge Gas decision at paragraph 5.510.  And there was a concern that the Board was not in a position to evaluate whether or not there had actually been a reduction in the volatility experienced by customers.  In my submission, they're categorically not in that position today.  The Board has now birth evidence that risk management has reduced the total fluctuation, the PGVA clearance accounts or the rate riders that customers will pay by that 16 percent.

     Now, Mr. Adams confirmed that all customers would prefer a reduction in volatility.  He did not, in my submission, seriously quarrel with the conclusions reached in M.19, M.10, and Union's evidence in general that risk management reduces volatility; indeed, as I indicated at the outset, he appears to have conceded that point without reservation.

     The second concern which has been raised in these proceedings and in cross-examination, and in my submission has been raised before, is the issue of incremental cost. 

Now, I touched on the issue of cost just a minute ago, but dealing specifically with the O&M aspects of it, Mr. Adams said in his evidence in-chief, through his report, and again the thrust of a number of his questions in cross-examination, and also the questions from my friend, Ms. DeMarco, the suggestion that there were significant incremental costs associated with risk management.

     Mr. Adams says at page 13:
"Since jointly used utility resources, including senior management time, are consumed in providing risk management service, tracking the complete, fully-allocated cost of risk management activities would represent a significantly higher cost.  Costing of risk management is deeply embedded, commensurate with the risk that risk management exposes utility to, the program receives extensive oversight my utility officials.  The commodity risk committee is chaired by a vice president and meets monthly.  The utility is justified in deploying extensive and costly resources to supervise risk management."

     And again, that suggestion was put to Mr. Simpson in his cross-examination, and in my submission was rejected unequivocally.  If the Board has page 116 of the transcript from May 23rd --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What page again, Mr. Smith?

     MR. SMITH:  116.  May 23.  And this is but one in a series of questions that were asked of Mr. Simpson on this point by both Mr. Adams and Ms. DeMarco.  At line 22 Mr. Adams was trying to get at the agenda for the risk management meetings, to make the point that a number of senior people were getting together, and this must somehow cost a lot of money.

     Mr. Simpson's response:

"The agenda and the meetings are rather brief, an hour, maybe an hour and a half, once per month.  It is involved in really just identifying what's been taking place, in the market from a price perspective, as well as discussion around fundamentals like gas and storage and levels of storage, and ultimately a review of the existing tools that have been put in place, and then a discussion about what to do for the next month in terms of continuing to unfold the plan throughout the season."


Mr. Simpson went on to explain that no preparation is required for these meetings.  The senior members who attend these meetings would have them in any event.  Union is in the natural gas business.  Meetings of senior management to consider natural gas issues are, of course, to be expected.  The total incremental cost is $104,000; in my submission, extremely modest.

     The cross-examination continued until, Madam Chair, you asked Mr. Adams:

"I am having a hard time understanding the materiality of your questions with the focus on costs of a meeting that is an hour a month."

     Shortly thereafter Mr. Adams abandoned the line of questioning.

     In my submission, there is simply no merit to the suggestion that risk management is an expensive, time-consuming endeavour.  It is overstatement by Mr. Adams which was rejected in cross-examination.  


The third criticism which I expect the Board will hear, and which has been rejected, is an impact on competition.

     Ms. DeMarco put to Mr. Simpson the theoretical possibility that there could be an impact on competition as a result of risk management.  Theoretically, that could be the case.  That is as high as the matter stands before you today.  There is simply no empirical evidence to support this suggestion.

     As the Board heard and as Union answered in interrogatories, the level of direct-purchase activity as a percentage of Union's customer base has remained static between 2003, 2004, and 2005, at 37 percent.  


Two points on that.       


One, 37 percent is the level which Mr. Adams says in his examination is the natural level of risk management --sorry, of direct-purchase activity.  And two, to the extent Mr. Adams refers in his evidence and in cross-examination to what are called customer or consumer danger zones, we heard Mr. Adams concede that there were customer danger zones in 2003, 2004, and 2005; in fact, there was a customer danger zone in 2003, at the very time this Board considered risk management the last time.

     My submission on the evidence in this case is there is simply no basis to suggest that there will be an adverse impact on competition.  I would also say that this was a significant focus of cross-examination in the last rates case.  The suggestion was put to Mr. Dent, who was Union's representative, on a number of occasions, rejected on each such occasion.  Examples of those can be found in the transcript that I've included in Exhibit M.4.1.

     More significantly, in my submission, this very suggestion was rejected by the Board unequivocally in its decision in RP-2003-0063.  At Exhibit M.4.1, the Board decision in the last rate case, page 16:

"Some intervenors argued that the proposed changes may be anticompetitive to the extent that they increase to degree of smoothing of the price volatility experienced by customers, thereby reducing the attractiveness of contracts offered to customers by marketers that are designed to achieve the same purpose."

     It's the final paragraph on page 16, first sentence.
”The Board is unconvinced that Union's risk-management program inhibits competitive commodity markets or that such programs are inherently anticompetitive.  Hedging activities are available to marketers as well.  The Board is unclear as to why a risk management quarterly price with adjusted variances is any more or less anticompetitive than a non-risk-managed price.  No price currently offered to Ontario residential or small general service customers is entirely representative of the spot or forward natural gas markets in North America."  


The next criticism which I expect will be raised - it’s always dangerous to anticipate your friend's arguments, but I think a fair reading of the cross-examination is that we might hear this – is that there has been a deleterious effect, or could be, on conservation.  Again, this raises only to a level of theoretical possibility.  There is no evidence before this Board that this assertion is in any way correct.  Absolutely none.

     Mr. Adams suggested it was a possibility.  He could not point and has not pointed and has not done any work to show that it is true, or, if true, the extent to which it's true.

     Mr. Simpson was put the same possibility.  He agreed that it was possible.  But he also indicated something to which to my mind makes sense, which is that, to the extent you're engaged in risk management and the price is not entirely representative of the spot market price, that may send signals to consumers one way or the other.  So it's two sides to the same coin, although even Mr. Simpson would say there's been no work done to suggest that this is in any way correct or has a measurable impact on consumption at all, one way or the other, to over- or under-consume.

     Equal billing.  You may hear the suggestion that risk management is unnecessary as a result of the equal billing plan.  This suggestion was rejected by Mr. Simpson and Ms. Piett in their cross-examinations.  They explained risk management is designed to shave the peaks and valleys of the cost of gas.

     The equal billing plan does not change those costs of gas.  So, in other words, they do different things.  They're complementary in the same way that the QRAM and risk management are complementary.

     Equal billing was also explored, indeed, explored by

Energy Probe through its counsel, in the last proceeding. 

At Exhibit M.4.1, tab 3, paragraph 918 -- I'm sorry, paragraph 920.

     Counsel for Energy Probe asked:
"If one of the principal goals of risk management is to smooth the effect on end-users, does it provide any substantial benefit over an equal billing plan?"

Answer by Mr. Dent:
"Well, if you're on an equal billing plan and prices go up to $10, and you have no hedges, then that unhedged piece, be it, in our case, approximately $50 million in March 2003, that has to be paid at the end of the equal billing time.  So somebody got a bit smoothed out, but then he got whacked over the head --” this is perhaps a little inelegant but the point is made succinctly, “--got whacked over the head at the end of the summer with an incremental charge, and that it seems to me is not really what the equal billing process or program is all about either."

     Finally on this point, this came through on the cross-examination of the 24-month plan, but there may be a suggestion that Union is trying beat the market, or that Union is seeking prior approval of contracts or activity which is above the market price.  In other words, that the Board will be precluded from reviewing, on a prudence basis, uncompetitive contracts.  This is simply not the case.  And in my submission, there's no foundation for it in the evidence.  Mr. Simpson squarely stated at pages 123 and 124 of his cross-examination on May 23rd, I believe -- yes.  I don't need to take you to it, but the reference is pages 123 and 124.  And this was a discussion with Mr. Adams.  Union is not trying to beat the market.  It has a plan for risk management, to achieve reasonable value for its customers.

     The concept of reasonable value and not trying to beat the market was again explored in considerable length in the last proceeding.  That objective of achieving reasonable value, of not beating the market, was accepted by the Board.  And I might add, the Board may recall at Issues Day that one of the arguments advanced in respect of the addition of this issue by Mr. Adams was the suggestion that the utilities had in the past been engaged in risk management with an attempt to beat the market.  That may be true for Enbridge.  In fact, I believe it is true with respect to Enbridge.  It's categorically not the case and has never been the case with Union.  It's just simply incorrect.

     Finally, on this point, I asked Mr. Simpson in re-examination:  
“Are you seeking Board approval to the entering of contracts at prices a Board above market?” 

And the answer was:  
“Absolutely not.  We are looking into entering contracts at market, pursuant to our usual Request for Proposal process.  There can be no concerns that that will involve affiliates.  There are no affiliates that could enter into a 24-month program as it now stands, and in any event, those contracts would be subject to the Affiliate Relations Code.”      

Just to summarize on risk management, in my submission, there's absolutely nothing before the Board today that would warrant departure from its previous approval.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith, before you go on to the next topic, my 15-minute average didn't apply to you, but you have taken 30 minutes for the first topic, so I’m hoping that the second will be shorter.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, the second will be shorter, and I will dance over the 24-month program because I believe the evidence is crystal clear on this point.  What Union is seeking prior approval of is something that, in Union's submission, it actually had approval for, but the request comes out of Board direction from the Natural Gas Forum.  So out of an abundance of caution, Union has brought forward that request today.  You heard of the manner in which that 24-month program will be implemented.  It will, but through a series of calls layered over a 24-month period.  Equal instalments such that at the end of 24 months, 20 percent of Union’s portfolio, gas supply portfolio will be underpinned by fixed price contracts.  In my submission, that will reduce volatility and has been amply justified by Union in this case 

     Subject to any questions, those would be my submissions with respect to risk management.

     Not to cause any trepidation, but I have a separate book.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Volume.

     MR. SMITH:  Volume.

     MS. NOWINA:  Maybe I'll pause there and see if the

Board Panel has any questions on risk management, Mr. Smith, before you go on to your second topic.  And we don't.

     MR. SMITH:  An entirely separate volume with respect to the issues to be dealt with under the 6 heading.  Those issues are issues 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3.

     Now, there are really, as I said, only two issues to deal with here, in my submission.  The first is issue 6.2, which asks about the appropriateness of splitting the rate 

M2.  Before I come to that issue 6.1 asks generally, are the rates appropriate.

     There were a number of questions asked by my friend, Mr. Thompson, and I suppose I'll have to hear what his position is in argument, but I, broadly speaking --

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- than yours.

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, well, and let's hope it's not based on materials which are, in fact, in my binder.  But in any event, there are also questions from Mr. Ryder on behalf of the City of Kitchener.  As the Board may know, Mr. Ryder sent a letter in yesterday, advising that he has no argument to submit to the Board and is satisfied with the T3 rate.  So I don't propose to touch on that issue at all other than if necessary in reply.

     Now, as I said, issue 6.2 deals with Union's response to the M2 directive.  In RP-2003-0063, a number of intervenors expressed a concern about the existing M2 rate class which is, as the Board knows, is a general-service rate class, which broadly encompasses residential, commercial, and industrial customer groups.

     Now, the concern arose from the fact that under the current design, a large portion of customer-related costs are recovered on a volumetric basis, rather than through the monthly charge.  As a result, large-volume customers contribute more, or subsidize, the recovery of fixed costs than do smaller customers.

     Now, in view of these concerns the Board issued a directive.  That directive, in its entirety, is set out at page 147 of the Board's decision in RP-2003-0063.  It is also reproduced at Exhibit H.1, tab 1, page 6 of 27, which is where you will find Union's evidence, pre-filed evidence, with respect to its response to the M2 directive.

     Now, that directive provides, and I'll read it into the record:
"It is counter-intuitive that a high-volume industrial user will incur the same amount of customer-related costs as a residential customer.  It seems unreasonable that Union cannot differentiate members of this class on the basis of consumption.”  

The operative part now:  
“The Board, therefore, directs Union to conduct a cost-allocation and rate-design study directed at separating low-volume and high-volume consumers currently within the M2 rate class.  In designing the study, Union should consider rate implications at different volume breakpoints and should also consider the appropriate level of monthly fixed charge for each subclass.”

Now, there was a suggestion at the cross-examination that a directive ought to consider a request to look at splitting the M2 rate class either on a volumetric basis or on an end-use basis.

     Now, in my submission, that is not a particularly accurate reading of the. But the point, in my submission, is largely irrelevant, because Navigant did consider splitting the rate along end-use lines, specifically, splitting out residential customers, and this alternative was rejected, as said in their report and as expressed in cross-examination, largely because it would result in similarly situated commercial customers being subject to a different rate than residential customers.

     And I would pause there only to draw the Board's attention to page 176 of RP-2003-0063.

     Now, this was a portion of the Board decision which member Sommerville may recall that dealt with issues raised by Coral.   At the time Coral was seeking a separate rate on the basis that they were a co-generating facility,

and thus should receive special rate treatment, if I can put it that way.  A similar argument was also raised in the M2 rate class.  


I don't propose to read it, but I'll draw your attention to it simply to point out the Board in that paragraph, on that page, indicates so-called end-use rates have not been a common feature of regulated markets,

primarily because, for the reason I indicated, customers who are similarly situated, cause the utility to incur similar costs, have a comparable or lower load factor, although by no means identical, should be on the same rate.  
Union has today no end-use rates.  It is not a generally accepted rate design principle, at least from Union's perspective, in the design of its own rates.

     Now, Union retained Navigant, and specifically Russ

Feingold, the head of Navigant's regulatory advisory group, to assist it in responding to the directive.  Navigant's report is Exhibit H.2, tab 1.

     Now, pausing there just for a moment, there can be no

dispute in my submission that Navigant and Mr. Feingold have more than a sufficient level of expertise to have assisted in responding to the M2 directive, and ultimately in formulating a proposed re-design of the M2 rate.

     As I believe Mr. Chernick ultimately conceded in cross-examination, and as apparent from the record,

Union and Navigant are entirely disinterested in this process.  Mr. Feingold was not driven to a particular result.  Union has no financial skin in the game whatsoever.

     Mr. Feingold's CV can be found at Exhibit M.2.1. 

There's no need to review it in its entirety but it is beyond dispute that he is a nationally recognized expert in the area of rate design and cost allocation.  He has testified over 70 times in this area.  He has over 25 years of experience on rate-making and rate design issues.  He has testified before this Board on that issue.  He teaches rate design at the university level and is an editor and one of the authors of a textbook issued by the American Gas

Association on this issue.

     In other words, Union was given a directive and it retained a foremost expert in the area who has no interest in the outcome, who has developed a proposal.

     Now, Mr. Feingold was asked whether, based on sound principles of cost allocation and rate design, splitting the M2 rate class was warranted.  In considering that question, he reached a number of key findings, and those findings are set out on page 3 of his report.  Not to go over all of them, but what he found is that the load profiles of the three major M2 rate subclass, residential, commercial, and industrial, were very similar.  He did not say they were identical, nor is that the suggestion.  There was a difference in annual and monthly customer use.  The annual load factors for the subclasses were very similar.  Large industrial subclass had a -- there was an aberration in 2003, but in 2004 theirs was comparable as well.

     Now, ultimately Mr. Feingold made a recommendation, and that recommendation was to split the M2 rate class into a small general service rate class, new rate M1, and a large general service rate class, new rate M2, and the breakpoint for that would be at 50,000 cubic metres.

     In Navigant's view, splitting the rate class into two

and at the 50,000 cubic metre point resulted in the more

homogeneous rate classes, and as set out at page 37 of

Navigant's report, splitting the rate class at 50,000 cubic metres best divided the class, bearing in mind the annual use and average use per customer in each of the existing M2 customer groups annual load factors but subclass, and thirdly, although this was of lesser concern, the rate potential, rate-switching potential of customers between new rate M1 and new rate M2.


Graphically, you can see the reasons he reached his conclusions at pages 38 to 41 of his report.  And I would draw the Board's attention specifically to Table 5, which Mr. Feingold referred to in cross-examination, which shows the load profile across the various volume tiers, which, in my submission, clearly demonstrates that 50,000 is the appropriate breakpoint. 


There is not a meaningful distinction, as Mr. Feingold put it, between 50,000 and lower levels of consumption.  There is a distinction between 50,000 and higher levels of

consumption.  So you will have, in the low-volume M1, a more homogeneous rate class than you had previously, and while there will be differences in M2, it too will see an

improvement in its homogeneity. 

     Now, Mr. Feingold based his findings on a thorough

review, in my submission, of the cost allocation which Union has available to it, including information about monthly consumption.

     There was some suggestion, specifically by 

Mr. Chernick, that the data was inadequate.  And there are two responses to that.

     First, Mr. Feingold used the data which was available to him.  This is the data that Union has always kept and which it has designed Board-approved rates for for any number of years.

     More importantly, from Mr. Feingold's perspective, based on his experience, the data was sufficient to reach meaningful conclusions with respect to M2, develop a proposal of his own, and was consistent with generally accepted rate-making practices.

     That came through in his examination in-chief on May 25, at page 109, lines 2 to 25.  In the interests of time, I won't take you to it.  But also, on May 26, pages 9-11, in cross-examination from my friend Mr. DeVellis.  And 

Mr. Feingold clearly indicated, in response to the questions, and this goes back to load profile, that in his view the information was consistent.  At page 10 he says:

"I didn't use temperature to calculate the peak day.  All I was trying to do was to align the February consumption and restate it on a daily basis with the annual consumption that occurred in either 2003 or 2004."

And over on the page, on page 11, Mr. Feingold says:

"I don't believe that having the actual data with respect to February –- I don't believe it can be affected materially by virtue of the fact that for a gas utility like Union there is a high degree of coincidence so that all of the rate classes experienced the peak in the same month; that is, February.  So I don't believe that your premise is correct in suggesting that there is a variation due that material variation."

     Now, at pages 6 to 8 of its pre-filed evidence, Exhibit H.1, tab 1, Union has concluded that adopting Navigant's recommendation with respect to M2 is the best response to the Board directive.  In Union's view, creating two classes differentiated by volume, one, most effectively addresses the issue of the intraclass subsidy, which, as I indicated before, was the very reason for the Board's directive in the first instance; two, is consistent with rate design principles used by Union in the design of all of its rates; and three, the impact on the billing system and the associated costs are not prohibitive, and just so the Board has those costs, the ongoing O&M costs associated with modifying the billing system are in the neighbourhood of $115,000, and an up-front cost, I believe, of $630,000.

     Now, the final pricing and implementation information with respect to new rates M1 and M2, including the proposed monthly charges and block structure, are set out at pages 

8 to 12 of H.1, tab 1, and I'd simply draw the Board to the question from Member Sommerville with respect to whether or not Union is in a position to implement these rates and whether or not Union has followed all of the implementation steps which Navigant says are necessary to the development of final rates.  And the answer to that is yes.

     So Union is in a position to proceed with those new rate, M1, and M2, as indicated in its pre-filed evidence.

     Now, I will save my comments largely with respect to the other evidence in this case, that being the evidence of

Mr. Chernick.  I would say simply this.  Mr. Chernick has no proposal of his own for this Board to consider.  He has only criticism.  In my submission, the criticism should be rejected in its entirety.  It represents, on matters of substance, a misapprehension of Mr. Feingold's evidence, and in other areas, in my submission, is simply unfair and unwarranted.

     Now, on the matter of substance, the main point of dispute, really, between Mr. Chernick and Navigant was in relation to load factor and the volume breakpoint.  On load factor, on a fair reading of Navigant's report, I think the Board can reach the conclusion, and Navigant did, that Mr. Feingold's use of load factor and February data was a proxy and a proxy only, although a good one.  And the use of that was, as he indicated and as I took you to, generally accepted in the rate-making field.  It is also the only data which is available.

     In my submission, Mr. Chernick's rather strident criticism, both in examination in-chief and in cross-examination, and in his report at pages 7 to 9, is unwarranted, and the criticism is simply incorrect.

     Further, I would say the criticism with respect to the volume breakpoint of 50,000 cubic metres is also incorrect.  At page 100 of the transcript at May 26, 2006, obviously Mr. Chernick says, page 100:

"In discussing the volume breakpoint …” 

     This is page 100, this is a rather lengthy answer to Mr. DeVellis in examination in-chief, but he's criticizing some of the work done by Mr. Feingold, and specifically the document he's referring to is the document -- you would need a magnifying glass to review. 

     And then he says at line 6:

"I mean, they're correct calculations, but they're meaningless calculations.  So this exhibit or this page of the working papers which seems to be the only thing that Mr. Feingold could point to as being a basis for his picking the 50,000 as a breakpoint is simply mathematically incorrect."

Now, in my submission, that statement represents a fundamental misapprehension of Mr. Feingold's evidence, and is an overstatement in the extreme.  In fact, if you look at a question in cross-examination put to Mr. Feingold by

Mr. DeVellis, as his own counsel, at page 13.  At page 

13, line 7, Mr. DeVellis puts the opposite proposition to

Mr. Feingold:

"So the average use per customer and annual use with the class was a primary determinant of the 50,000 breakpoint, then?"

Mr. Feingold answers:

"Well, it was a primary determinant at the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint, but I would say more broadly, a primary determinant in evaluating some of the other breakpoints by virtue of the fact that if you look at chart 5 -- what I referred to before -- at page 39 of my report, across the various breakpoints that we reviewed, including the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint that was recommended, there was not material variance in the annual load factor across rate M2.  So it wasn't that load factor wasn't important..."

And then he goes on.

     And again, if you look at page 37 of the Navigant report, he points out that there were a number of considerations.  Rate switching around 50,000 was just one.  And in fact, he said it was the third and the least important, in fact.

     Now, there was also a criticism of Mr. Kitchen, a suggestion that Mr. Kitchen would somehow not follow a Board directive.  There's no need to respond to that other than to say of course Union would follow a Board directive, just as it's followed this Board directive.

     Now, finally, with respect to Mr. Chernick's

Conclusions, as I indicated he has no proposal.  There is, in my submission, an element of advocacy in what he has done which can be differentiated from what Mr. Feingold has done.  There is also a distinction in their qualifications, but I don't intend to dwell on that nor do I think the Board ought to.  Because at the end of the day, there is no alternative proposal, and Mr. Chernick indicates that he doesn't know whether if more work were done he'd reach a different conclusion.  So this Board is left, really, with the result of the work done by Mr. Feingold and Union, which, in my submission, more than adequately supports the splitting of the M1 and M2 rate class.

     Finally, issue 6.3.  Issue 6.3 deals with the splitting -- not of the splitting of, the increase in the monthly customer charge which will be charged to the new M1 rate class and the Rate 01 class in the northern and eastern operations.  That is an increase from $14 to $16.  

The evidence in support of that proposal can be found at pages 14 to 16 of Union's pre-filed evidence, Exhibit H.1, tab 1.  And in broad terms, the proposal has been brought forward to provide a better alignment between the incurrence of customer-related costs and the recovery of customer-related costs and a monthly charge.  In other words, it will reduce the intraclass subsidy, something which, as pointed out in Union's pre-filed evidence, the

Board indicated was an element of appropriate rate design.

     In my submission, there was very little cross-examination on this point, to the extent there was cross-examination it confirmed the appropriateness of this move; in fact, Mr. Kitchen said, quite fairly, as did Mr. Feingold, in a perfect world, I suppose you would have complete alignment between the fixed costs and their recovery.  Union has not proposed that.  

This Board has indicated in Union's cases in the past that it prefers an incremental approach, an incremental approach to the increase in the monthly charge, and that is exactly what Union is proposing here today.

     So, subject to any questions, those are my submissions.  I apologize for the length of them, but I felt it appropriate, rather than try to deal with  everyone's answer in reply, as we might do if we were doing written argument, to think -- to hit what I think will be the high points so that I will be much briefer, I expect and hope now, in reply.

     MS. NOWINA:  We hope so too, Mr. Smith.

     MR. SMITH:  No doubt. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

     Thanks, Mr. Smith, we don't have any questions.

     Mr. Warren, I believe you were next up.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  I am, Madam Chair.  I guess we now have fewer than 15 minutes, and I'll do my best to at least keep to that.  I'll deal first with issue 3.6, which is the appropriateness of the gas cost risk-management program.

     The background to this, Madam Chair, as Mr. Smith pointed out, is the Board's decision in RP-2003-0063.  The

Board had before it, as Mr. Smith has indicated, the report of Risk Management Inc., which reviewed among other things whether Union's plans had had appropriate goals and objectives and whether Union was meeting those goals and objectives.  The Board found at page 17 of that decision that Union's risk-management program does provide value to ratepayers and is, therefore, appropriate.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, can you move your mike a little closer to you?  Thanks.

     MR. WARREN:  In reaching that conclusion, the Board reviewed a number of arguments that were made against the program.  These appear or are summarized by the Board in its decision at page 16.  And I want to read them in their entirety.

"While the Board does not accept the arguments raised by CME and Energy Probe that Union's commodity program is without benefit, it does agree that such benefits are difficult to measure.  The Board beliefs that such issues are” -- and I underscore the following words –- “better studied in broader policy form.  Some intervenors argue that the proposed changes may be anticompetitive to the extent that they increase the degree of smoothing of the price volatility experienced by customers, thereby reducing the attractiveness of the contracts offered to customers by marketers that are designed to achieve the same purpose.

The Board is unconvinced that Union's risk-management program inhibits competitive commodity markets or that such programs are inherently anticompetitive.  Hedging activities are available to marketers as well.  The Board is unclear as to why a risk-managed quarterly price with adjusted variances is any more or less anticompetitive than a non-risk-managed price.  No price currently offered to Ontario residential or small, general-service customers is entirely representative of the spot or forward natural gas markets in Ontario."


I cite those findings, Madam Chair, because in my respectful submission, the critique of the risk-management program has not advanced one inch beyond what the Board cited in that decision.

      The issue of the appropriateness of Union’s gas costs risk-management program would not be on the issues list but for the evidence of Mr. Adams.  I think it is essential that the Board understand the relief that Mr. Adams seeks.  It's found at page 3 of his pre-filed evidence.  


He seeks the following relief.  First, a finding that reverses the Board support for the system-gas price smoothing.  And secondly, an order that Union discontinue its commodity risk management.  Mr. Adams seeks this relief not on the basis of evidence that the risk-management program is failing to achieve its goal. The evidence, as Mr. Smith has pointed out, is that it does have an effect in smoothing prices.  Mr. Adams seeks this relief precisely because the risk-management program does achieve that goal.  That's the fundamental irony of his evidence.  It's the very smoothing that he objects to.

     He objects to it precisely because it's successful.

     Mr. Adams takes the same position that he did in the

2003-0063 case.  He is, in effect, appealing that decision to see if his arguments will be any more persuasive now.  He brings no new information to bear on his basic argument that smoothing is, per se, bad.

     The Board heard and rejected the very same arguments in the RP-2003-0063 case that it hears in this case.  We submit, as a matter of principle, that the Board shouldn't be reluctant to reverse its position on an issue unless there is new evidence or some compelling public policy reason to do so, and neither exists in this case, in our submission.

     Mr. Adams relies on a portion of the Board’s decision in the RP-2003-0063 case as his licence to bring this issue back. 


The Board stated at page 17 of its decision, and I quote:

"To extent that the intervenors have significant concerns about the operation of Union's risk-management program, it is open to them in future proceedings to bring expert evidence recommending appropriate” -- and I underscore the following words –- “changes to the program.  Changes to the program are not the same as a proposal to scrap the program in its entirety based on the same arguments the Board rejected in that decision."


My client has no objection to the Board reviewing the programs to see if the objectives are being achieved and to see whether the costs outweigh the benefits.  Indeed, the Board in its recent decision in EB-2005-0001, in the Enbridge Gas Distribution case, asked the very question, appropriately so, of whether the risk-management program had an effect in reducing volatility.  


The Board's analysis of the issue in that case is instructive, and it appears at pages 25-31 inclusive of its decision.

     The Board accepted the principle that some form of price smoothing is an appropriate consumer protection measure.  In other words, it accepted the very principle that Mr. Adams seeks by his evidence to attack, seeks by his evidence to ask you to reverse.

     The Board, in other words, as recently as February of this year reinforced the very premise that Mr. Adams attacks.  Indeed, the Board in that decision rejected

Mr. Adams’ own argument, which is identical to the one advanced here.

     The Board in that case did ask whether the risk-management program contributed to smoothing beyond what the QRAM process, the use of the PGA and equal billing did.  The evidence in this case is that it does.

     I don't need you to turn this up, but the evidence reference is at page 148 of volume 1 of the transcript.  Ms. Piett states that the risk-management program has had the effect of decreasing the size of the rate rider.  She estimates, at page 141 of the same volume, that the decrease in the size of the rate rider for a consumer using

3,000 cubic metres a year would result in a bill change of about $50 a year.  The O&M cost for the program is approximately 10 cents a year.  There has been a modest increase in costs -- sorry, modest costs otherwise decided by Mr. Smith in his evidence.

     The other important point about this, in our submission, is that the evidence here is backward-looking. 

It looks to whether or not the program has been effective in the past.  But it's like the rough -- I admit, crude analogues, like an insurance policy.  It's a modestly priced insurance policy to try and smooth volatility in the interest of residential consumers.

     Now, the other essential point of evidence, in our respectful submission, is that Union was pressed on whether the risk-management program made a contribution to smoothing that was distinct from that of the PGVA, the equal billing program, and the QRAM process, and the answer, unchallenged, was that it did.

     Now, the Board in its decision, in the EGD decision,

EB-2005-0001, did posit a test for whether or not this issue should come back before the Board, and that test appears at paragraph -- or section 5.5.13 of the decision.  And I quote:

"While it is unnecessary to decide this point for the purposes of this decision, given the Board's disposition of the issues in this case, the Board considers it appropriate to address the underlying proposition; that is, the attack on the fundamental principle of whether there should be a smoothing program.  The Board considers that where” -- and I underscore -– “convincing evidence is presented that leads to a compelling conclusion, that a program does not provide value to ratepayers, it is always open to the Board to disallow any further spending on the program whether or not the issue falls within the four corners of an issue on the issues list."


That's the test that Mr. Adams must meet.  And if we ask ourselves rhetorically whether there is convincing evidence leading to a compelling conclusion the program does not provide value to ratepayers, that means, in my respectful submission, Mr. Adams has failed.

     Now, in that context, I think it important for the

Board to remember that Mr. Adams' attack on risk management is merely a stalking horse for a much larger target.  He wants the elimination of all smoothing mechanisms so that in some magical way consumers can know at any given moment what the market price is.  At page 3 of his pre-filed evidence, he incites the Board to consider the operation of the PGVA balances, which is a key smoothing element on the QRAM.  At page 10 of his pre-filed evidence, he states, and I quote:

"The current method for pricing system-gas through risk management or quarterly rate adjustment mechanism, including the PGVA, and physical hedging associated with putting gas into storage for seasonal load-balancing resulted in significant smoothing."

     So Mr. Adams' attack is on the whole idea of smoothing, as I say.  He has no, in my respectful submission, viable discrete argument with respect to risk management.  It's the underlying concept that he quarrels with. 
     Mr. Adam offers no evidence on how system-gas would be priced if there were no smoothing mechanisms.  In other words, if you granted the relief that he wanted, and eliminated smoothing mechanism, how would the system operate?

     He premises his world view on an assumption that customers are "educated and can price compare" as Ms. DeMarco asserted in her cross-examination – I use the word cross-examination generously there - at volume 4, page 28 of the transcript.  It's amusing, I say -- and I'll make this point as briefly as I can - to consider Mr. Adams as representative of the average consumer.  

At volume 1 of the transcript, page 145, he conceded, Ms. Nowina, in response to an inquiry from you, that he has a database of something like 300 contracts.  He sorted them all by time and price and by contract type, and tried to identify the best deals that were available to customers at any point in time.

     Then, in response to a question from Ms. DeMarco, when he was asked whether all in all, customers had done fairly well from signing up with competitive price offerings, Mr. Adams said he didn't have sufficient information.

     Now, is Mr. Adams, with his vast knowledge of the issue, in his vast detail, in a better position than the average residential consumer?  In my respectful submission, he is not.  The Board has decided that these rate-smoothing mechanisms are there for a simple basic reason:  To prevent the average consumer from having to deal with rapid price swings.

     What is the mischief, I ask rhetorically, in giving residential consumers a measure of protection from swings in gas prices, particularly in circumstances where, as the evidence indicates, 80 percent of natural gas LDCs in North

America participate in risk management?

     There is nothing new, in our respectful submission, from Mr. Adams that dislodges the principle that the Board has accepted again and again, as recently as February of this year, that smoothing is a benefit to consumers.  In our respectful submission, if the Board will accept, as we say it should not, any element of Mr. Adams' argument, the issue could only be consider in the broad array of smoothing mechanisms that are available, and indeed the broad array of how gas prices are set.  In our respectful submission, the Board should accept the continuation of Union's gas risk-management program.

     We turn, then, to the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.  Now, Union can undertake this program as part of its approved risk-management plan.  It does not need Board approval to do so.  Indeed, it is arguable that the Board should not micromanage Union's risk-management program by approving or not approving individual components in it once it has approved a general array of programs.

     My client, frankly, has concerns about the mechanistic nature of the proposal, and believes that Union should retain, to every degree possible, a measure of flexibility in its risk-management program.  Having said that, the issue, in our respectful submission, is not before the Board, and the Board should conclude that no relief is required.

     Then, I turn briefly, as briefly as I can, to the issue 6.2, which is the proposal for splitting the M2 rate class into two separate classes, M1 and M2.

     This issue, again, would not be before the Board, but for Mr. Chernick's stinging critique of the Navigant study and Union's use of it.

     I'll confine myself to these observations.  The Navigant witness, Mr. Feingold, asserted, and he was not challenged, in my respectful submission, on this issue, he asserted that he used a generally accepted cost allocation and rate-design principles and, B, used the available data.

     It's striking, in my respectful submission, and Mr. Chernick never asserted that what he proposes is consistent with or follows generally received rate design or cost allocation principles.  His criticism, in my respectful submission, amounts to little more than an assertion that parsing the data in a different way might result in a -- sorry, might result in a different deal.

     Now, Mr. Chernick is relentlessly critical of every aspect of the Navigant study, and what he proposes, the relief he asked for, is that the Board order Union to do a further and better study incorporating all of the points he thinks are special.

     The problem, in our respectful submission, is that Mr. Chernick at no point in his report says that doing what he suggests whether result in a better cost allocation and rate design proposal.  I put the very proposition to Mr. Chernick, and with your indulgence, I'll just take a moment to read these portions to have transcript.  They appear at volume 3 of the transcript, beginning at page 106, the very bottom of it.

     The preamble to this is that I asked Mr. Chernick, or I was putting to Mr. Chernick the question that I hadn't found in his report anything that would confirm that if the Board did what he asked, ordering a further and better report, there would be a better result.  Then I say at the bottom of page 106:

"I just don't see that anywhere in the report.  And is it the case that you are not certain that this will result in a better rate design and cost allocation?" 

     Answer from Mr. Chernick at the top of page 107: 

"The conclusion might very well be that when you look at customer costs, and load factors, and trends with size, and the differences between types of customers, that if you cut up the rates and design them in a more specific fashion, that they wouldn't be very different and it really doesn't matter, doesn't make sense, to break up the M2 rate.  Maybe it would design within the rate some way.  That's one possible outcome.  I can't rule that out."

     And then at page 111 of the same volume of the transcript, I put, beginning at line 20, the following proposition to him: 

"Now I read the words 'may be more effective' and 'suspects that they are to meet' somewhat below the measurable threshold of confidence that doing what you suggest will result in a meaningful difference from Mr. -- sorry, what Navigant has proposed.  Is that fair on my part?"

Answer:

"I'm not sure what the good study will result in.  That's correct."

     Now, surely there is -- Mr. Chernick said, look, I didn't have time to look at the data to come up with a proposal.  Let's accept that, for the sake of argument, that that's a legitimate concern.  But surely there's a diminimus standard on anyone that presents evidence to the Board and asks the Board to grant relief.  The diminimus standard is some credible suggestion that granting the relief will result in a positive change, and in my respectful submission, Mr. Chernick's evidence does not meet that diminimus standard.

I ask the Board to prefer the evidence of Navigant and Union on this point, and to accept that the M1/M2 rate split is a reasonable one. 

     Finally, and very briefly, on the last issue, which is the proposal to increase the M2 and 01 monthly charge to $16.  Studying the amount of the fixed mol charge is always a balancing act.  On the one hand, there is a principle which we acknowledge as legitimate that ratepayers should, as closely as possible, pay the actual costs of providing the service.  On the other hand, there is an argument, which is equally legitimate, that higher volumetric charges do promote conservation.  Our client submits that in striking the balance, the Board should, to the extent possible, avoid rate shock.  To that extent, our submission is that the increase should be either limited to $15 per month or in the alternative the increase to $16 should be phased-in over two years.

     Those, I know, are my submissions, and I believe I'm within the time limit.  I'm sorry to have rushed.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren 

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, I have to, as Mr. Thompson  says, go through the ritual of abasing myself before the Board and asking if my client can be awarded 100 percent of its reasonably-incurred costs.  I won't go any lower than that.  I leave that to Mr. Thompson.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I have half an hour on that point.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please send in written submissions.

     Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

Mr. DeVellis, I believe.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair --

     MS. NOWINA:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I should have asked my fellow Panel members if they wanted to ask Mr. Warren any questions.

     Mr. DeVellis.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, our submissions are restricted to the issue of 6.2 regarding the M2 split, and we take no position on the other issues, and I will try and keep within the 15 minutes.

     Madam Chair, the School Energy Coalition were one of the main advocates for the M2 split back in the 0063 proceeding, but we believe that the current M2 study discuss not provide adequate evidentiary basis for the particular split being proposed.

     Our witness, Mr. Chernick, has identified what, in my respectful submission, are substantial deficiencies in the

Navigant study, and I will turn to those in a moment.  But first, I'll deal briefly with the two issues that were put to Mr. Chernick in his cross-examination, and that were also mentioned by my friends Mr. Smith and Mr. Warren in their submissions.

     And as far as I can tell, these are the only issues put to Mr. Chernick in cross-examination, and there were no questions to him regarding the substantive points that he makes in his evidence.  And first, the suggestion has been made that Union has no interest in the matter and SEC presumably does, and that therefore there is a bias in Mr. Chernick's analysis that does not exist in Navigant's.

     I'd say firstly that the School Energy Coalition is disappointed in that submission.  It has always been, in my submission, SEC's policy to focus on getting the right solution, as opposed to a solution that is only right for its members.  We are not interested in a solution that benefits SEC members at the expense of other customer groups.  We are interested in a solution that is fair and based on sound cost allocation principles.

     I would note as an aside that in the 0063 proceeding there was a proposal in the area of rate design that would have benefited School Boards or Schools, but that we felt would harm residential ratepayers and therefore did not support it.

     In fact, when the suggestion was put to Mr. Chernick that perhaps SEC was motivated by a particular impact on its members, Mr. Chernick replied as follows, and this is at page 124 of volume 3 of the transcript:

"Mr. Chernick says that he was told by 

Mr. Seal, ‘We, being Schools -- have members above and below the split, and we are not asking

you to particularly defend any particular customer’s interest.  We want you to address the issue of whether the proposal is based on sound rate design principles.  And you tell us whether it is a good proposal, and don't worry about whether changing it one way or another would help one school and hurt another school.’"

     When pressed further by Mr. Smith with the suggestion that Mr. Seal must have been aware that his clients may be adversely affected by the split, Mr. Chernick answered very honestly, and this is at page 125, beginning at line 4:

“As soon as you find out that a utility has designed a re-design that could affect your clients, you know there is some possibility they will be adversely affected, that the rates might go up."


Now, if SEC was motivated only by its own interest, then it would have commissioned a different expert to provide a rate design proposal that provided maximum benefit to its members without regard to the interests of other ratepayer groups.  Mr. Chernick's evidence, however, simply analyzes Navigant's evidence, finds substantial fault in it, and proposes that Union should be made to go back to the drawing board, this time with input from ratepayer groups.

     In any case, although Union may not have a financial interest in the outcome, it may, as Mr. Chernick said in cross-examination, have other interests.  One of those is harmonization of rates between the north and south service areas, which coincidentally would occur with the 50,000 cubic metre split.

     Now, we believe harmonization may be an appropriate collateral goal, but harmonization at the wrong number is not.

     The second criticism level of Mr. Chernick was that he did not produce his own rate design proposal to counter

Navigant's.

     We find that suggestion puzzling for a number of reasons.  No matter what pre-hearing discoveries there are in a given proceeding, there will always be an asymmetry of information between utilities and intervenor groups.  We heard evidence from Navigant that it began its study in

April 2005 and did not complete it until December 2005, so approximately eight to nine months.

     The suggestion was made during cross-examination of

Mr. Chernick that he should either have retained – been retained earlier by the School Energy Coalition or asked for various data items in his interrogatories with Union, rather than in reply to a question from Union.  In either case, however, we would not have had interrogatory responses we needed until April 4th date, which is when IR responses were due, which is approximately eight business days before our evidence was due.  This compared to eight to nine months Navigant took to complete its study.

     Not only did Navigant have the benefit of a much longer time frame, it also had the benefit of ready access to Union staff.  Mr. Feingold testified, for example, that he and his team called Union's staff regularly when they had questions or clarifications for data, and that reference can be found at volume 3, page 7, of the transcript.

     That is the sort of access that would never have been afforded to an expert hired by a ratepayer group.

     Now, with that I'd like to turn, now, to the substantive, and in my respectful submission, substantial criticisms Mr. Chernick levied against Navigant study.

     Firstly, in my respectful submission, it was clear that in the 0063 decision the Board was concerned about having residential customers in the same class as large commercial or industrial customers.  Mr. Smith took you to an excerpt from the decision in his submissions, and I won't repeat it, but it's clear from that excerpt that the Board believed residential customers had a different load profile and cost characteristics than other subclasses.  


The Navigant study, which was commissioned by Union in response to the Board's concerns, has now produced a new M1 rate class which has its upper limit a consumption volume that is 20 times the volume of a typical residential customer. 


In our view, there's no evidence to substantiate Navigant's claim that a commercial customer with 20 times the consumption of a residential customer belong in the same rate class.

     The first observation with the Navigant study is there is absolutely no cost analysis that would allow Navigant to say that at a given volumetric breakpoint we have a different level of costs that would justify moving to a different rate class.

     Navigant readily admitted in cross-examination, in response to both Mr. Warren and myself, that Union's cost-of-service study did not provide to Navigant information that would allow it to directly look at unit cost by volume.  And to the reference there is page 27 of volume 3 of the transcript.

     Now, Union's RFP, which I took Mr. Feingold to, a copy of which is found at Exhibit J.21.26, attachment 1, stated that Navigant was required to do an analysis of customer-related costs across different volumes.  When asked how this reconciled with Mr. Feingold's statement that Union's cost-of-service did not allow Navigant to directly look at unit costs by volume, Mr. Feingold responded that the subclasses have different volume levels and that that, in his words, meant that, and this is at page 27, lines 2-4 of volume 3 of the transcript, "Union's cost study can give the unit costs by rate class."


But when asked whether Union had done an analysis of the two classes to determine whether or not the 50,000 breakpoint was a rational allocation in terms of allocation of costs, Mr. Feingold responded as follows, and this is at volume 3, page 28:

"No, I haven't done an analysis, but based on my review of a number of other utilities' cost studies that do differentiate by volume, it's my judgement that that is an expectation that is highly likely."

     In my submission, I don't see how a review of another utility's cost study could possibly have provided Navigant with the basis for choosing a 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint for Union.

     In redirect examination by Mr. Smith, Mr. Feingold attempted to show that the fact that average use per customer, as shown on tables 1 and 2 on page 22 of the Navigant report -- average use per customer, and average cost-per-customer shown on tables 8 and 9 on page 41, the fact that both of those increase as you move from residential to commercial to industrial groups somehow demonstrates that Navigant looked at unit costs by volume.

     All that shows, as Mr. Chernick indicated in his examination, is that unit costs increase by volume.  There is no analysis to demonstrate that the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint is rational.

     Now, an example of the lack of vigour in the cost analysis is Mr. Feingold's comment to Mr. Warren that approximately half the commercial customers have the same cost characteristics as residential customers.  And that is found at volume 2 of the transcript at page 125.

     Now, as Mr. Chernick pointed out in his direct examination, there is no evidentiary basis for that statement.  However, even if we accept that fact, we see from table 7 on page 40 of the Navigant report that over 90 percent of commercial customers will fall into the new M1 class, even though, as I've said, it was Mr. Feingold's view that 50 percent of commercial customers have the same cost characteristics as residential customers.

     And as Mr. Chernick also points out, residential and commercial customers at the lower end, the lower consumption levels, have very different load factors.

     In addition, if Mr. Feingold is correct that unit costs increase in a linear fashion as average use increases, then surely the unit costs of the users at the top end of the new M1 class, which, as I've said, is 20 times the volume of a typical residential customer, would have a different cost characteristics than those at the lower end.

     We don't know the answer to that question because the analysis was never done.

     Now, Mr. Chernick also found fault with Navigant's use of average February consumption as a proxy for peak consumption in its load-factor analysis.

     Mr. Fine gold was twice given an opportunity to respond to Mr. Chernick's criticism for his use of the average consumption for February as a proxy for peak consumption.  And both times, he failed to address the crux of Mr. Chernick's argument, that is, that some customer groups are more heat-sensitive than others and therefore, using the average consumption for February affects not only the overall load factor, but the relative load factors of, for example, residential customers versus that of commercial or industrial.

     In the excerpt from the transcript that my friend

Mr. Smith took you to this morning, Mr. Feingold -- what 

Mr. Feingold said is that all of the rate classes experience a peak in the same month, that is, February.

     Well, again, as I've said, that completely misses the point.  The point is not whether or not all rate classes experience a peak in February.  The point is that some rate classes are more heat sensitive than other rate classes and more –- and therefore to the decision to use average February instead of peak February consumption has a greater impact on the load factor than it does on other groups.

     That is a critical flaw in the Navigant study because the point is later made in the study that the new rate classes produce homogeneous rate classes.  And Mr. Feingold repeats that assertion at page 13 of volume 3 of the transcript, where he directed us to chart 5 on page 39 of his report, which he asserted shows a uniform load factor across a new M1 class.

     But in appendix E of the Navigant study we see that at various levels of consumption, at levels of consumption that would all be in the new M1 class, there are vastly different load factors among residential, commercial, and industrial customers.

     And furthermore, Mr. Feingold says, in cross-examination, that he did not analyze the data to see if separating the classes by end-use would produce a more homogeneous load profile.  And that that can be found at Volume 3, page 15 of the transcript. 

     Now, the other major reason for selecting the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint is that it supposedly minimizes the opportunity for rate-switching.  But as we saw when we were looking at J.21.27, page 71, and that was the page with the very small typeface, and I won't take you to it, Navigant appears to have gotten the calculations wrong.  The column labelled “Number of bills above and below tier,” did not add up to what Navigant said it should add up to.

     Now, Mr. Chernick was also asked whether the deficiencies he's identified would, if they were addressed in a new study, produce a different result than the current Navigant study.  He replied, quite forthrightly, in my submission, that he did not know.  But his answer is consistent with the view expressed in his evidence that

Navigant had insufficient data to produce its report.  Given the deficiencies in the data, it would have been irresponsible of him to say otherwise.

     Mr. Chernick does, however, identify in his evidence substantial deficiencies in the current rate design proposal that warrant -- that in my submission warrant this Board asking Union to try again.

     And finally, with respect to Mr. Chernick's suggestion that Union be made to consult with ratepayer groups when it redoes this study, Mr. Smith, although I don't think he mentioned think it morning, but in cross-examination, seemed to indicate, a concern that such a consultation will degenerate into a partisan tug of war, which each ratepayer group trying to achieve maximum advantage for their constituents.  And to some extent that is a legitimate concern.  However, we just went through a two-week ADR with just such a scenario achieved, and achieved, if I may say so, a positive result for all sides.

     Given the deficiencies in the study Union has produced after the first go around, we see no other option but to have a new proposal developed with ratepayer input.  

Subject to the Board's questions, those are my submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  
     I actually have a question, Mr. DeVellis.  If we were to take your advice to ask Union to go back to the drawing table, if you like, the rates we're looking at now are for implementation in 2007.  What do you think the schedule would be for the rate impact of that new study?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  As I understand the current proposal, it wouldn't be implemented until 2008.

     MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, that's correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  In any case.  And it would be our expectation that the new study could be completed in a fairly short time, and then we'd still be seeing the same implementation date of 2008.

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you.  

Mr. Buonaguro.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     With respect to the issue of the M1/M2 split, I have no submissions to make.  I would adopt the arguments of both Union and Mr. Warren in support of the proposal as it currently stands.

     With respect to the fixed charge, which is issue 6.3,

I refer you to the cross-examination I conducted of the rate panel, which is pages 172 to 184 of the May 25th, 2006 transcript, where I set out the history of the increases to the fixed charge.  I don't propose to repeat them there but just put that in for reference purposes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, can you try to speak into your mike more, please?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that better?

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The nature of the fixed charge increase when accompanied by volumetric block reduction to maintain revenue neutrality at the class level will always disadvantage users with a volumetric consumption below some

fixed level, i.e., below that level, consumers will be worse off, i.e., pay more; and well above the consumption level, consumers would be better off, i.e., pay less.

     In this case, and in the rate re-designs to accommodate increases in fixed monthly charges since 2001, the typical 2600 metre cubed per year consuming customer is worse off under the proposal than low-volume customers, i.e., below 2300 cubic metres per year, are worse off yet.   

Union argues that all it is doing is reversing class cross-subsidy, to which I would make the following points.  First, classification of costs as customer related is, in reality, an art rather than a science.  And by way of example, we would point to the reclassification of costs in the north between 2004 and the current case, where as a matter of reclassification, the fixed charge which originally had been considered to produce -- to recover, sorry, 90 percent of the customer-related charge was reduced to recovery of only 46 percent.

     Point 2, the cumulative impact on low-volume customers is significant.  From 2001, the proposed new fixed charge, the delivery charge for the average M2 customer consuming 

2600 metres cubed will have risen by $23 per annum, while the customer using 2300 metres cubed will experience a total increase of over $30, and all Rate 1 customers will have experienced increases over $30 in that time span.

I understand that not all those increases are directly related to the fixed charge, but it's the fixed charge on top of the other rate increases that produce a significant overall increase.

     Those references are from -- or the combination – the comparison of Exhibit H.1, tab 1, pages 15 to 27, and Exhibit U.2.9, which is an undertaking of Mark Kitchen to VECC.

     In addition, we would adopt the submissions of CCC in terms of the balancing act that the Board has to do when implementing fixed charge.  And we recognize that over the course of the fixed charge increases the Board has been sensitive to the impact by phasing in fixed charge increases where appropriate, and although our first submission is that the proposed increase of the fixed charge should be refused, we should also in the alternative adopt CCC's recommendation that it should be limited to $15, or again, in the alternative, phased in.

     Those are my submissions on the fixed charge.

     With respect to the risk-management program, I'm pleased to report that much of my argument will have been gutted by previous argument.  I would adopt both the arguments of Union and CCC in support of the risk-management program and the 24-month purchase plan.  


I would like to make some submissions, however, on one particular point, which –- and limit it to the argument that's raised in Mr. Adams' report, which is that because of smoothing the customers are disadvantaged in terms of market signals, and for that reason the Board should embark on, I guess I'd call it a journey towards a floating spot through gas offering.

     Now, as Mr. Warren pointed out, ironically, this argument starts with accepting the premise that risk management in combination with other mechanisms actually serves to smooth prices significantly.  And as a consequence, Mr. Adams asked the Board to reverse its practice of reducing gas volatility by any means and restore accurate price signals.

     Under this argument, removing risk management is simply the first step in the rebuilding of their system-gas offering with the projected end result of (inaudible).

     We would submit that in order to agree to eliminate risk management in accordance with this argument, the Board would have to be satisfied that the end result would be more valuable to system-gas customers than the current system.  VECC submits that the evidence before the Board is not capable of supporting the conclusion that system-gas should be ultimately reformulated.

     In comparing the current offering with the proposed theoretical floating spot pass-through offering, Mr. Adams agrees, at pages 38 to 39 of the May 29th, 2006, transcript that the price achieved for system customers over time under the current offering will be the same as the price achieved by the spot gas offering.  The difference between the two offerings is 10 cents per annum, with the implementation of risk management, a cost which Mr. Adams described as the relatively modest cost that utility ratepayers pay with risk management.

     In fairness, he does go on to say, as I understand it, that as a result of inaccurate price signals its users may migrate to unregulated price options at the wrong time, and he also says that consumers may make inaccurate consumption decisions, which arguments I will deal with shortly.  


For now the important point that I'm making is that for those customers staying on system-gas, they will, in the long run, achieve the same market price contemplated in the floating spot pass through, while at the same time enjoying reduced price volatility at a modest cost.

      The question then was whether Mr. Adams has provided convincing evidence that system-gas customers are being disadvantaged as a result of price smoothing by virtue of distorted market signals.

     However, as we went through Mr. Adams' corrected figure 2, which appears at tab 4, page 4, of Exhibit M.1.8, in comparison to the mark to market share data he outlines at tab 3, page 12, Exhibit M.1.8, we find that despite the conclusion that system gas customers were exposed to customer danger zones in between 2003 and 2005, the market or market share remained completely static.


The only indication of increased marketer share was in 2001 to 2002, largely in Enbridge's market.  As Mr. Adams admits in his answer to Superior Energy Management's interrogatories, found at Exhibit M.1.8, tab 4, page 8, he focussed only on pricing data and recognized that other factors may contribute to consumers finding themselves in contracts with marketers.

     However, Energy Probe has not provided any studies or surveys with respect to those other factors.  


With respect to the pricing analysis, Mr. Adams candidly admits, at page 43 of the transcript, that what he has is a very crude experiment, based on very crude information, and ultimately states that while he believes that the information relating to 2001 and 2002 is directionally helpful to understand, he does not suggest that it's very accurate.

      Again, his statements, which I've paraphrased here at page 43 of the transcript from yesterday.

     Despite the crudeness of the experiment, Mr. Adams is still a proponent of an alternative floating spot pass through gas offering, even though he does not have the information to compare it to the existing system, and even though he candidly admits at pages 43 to 44 that the details of ultimate methodology for price formation are highly technical questions that go substantially beyond his expertise.

     Now, with respect to consumption decisions, and on a review of pages 44-45 of the transcript from yesterday, I submit that Mr. Adams agrees that the value of information derived from price signals comes with knowing the price you are going to pay before you make the purchase and consumption decision, but there are practical limitations within network commodities like natural gas in achieving that decision.  He called them timing differentials.  I suggested that by timing differentials he meant that you consume gas and then you buy it, which he agreed was a regrettable fact of life.  


The nature of the sale of natural gas, whether under the current system-gas offering or under his theoretical alternative, is that you will purchase and consume gas before you know what you will pay for it.  


Accordingly, I submit that Mr. Adams’ assertion that (inaudible) make incorrect consumption decisions under the current system of gas offering, and the implication that under his proposal they may not is not grounded on any of the evidence before the Board.

     Those are my submissions in addition to adopting the previous submissions of counsel with respect to supporting the risk management system and the 24-month purchase plan.  
     I guess the only thing I have to add is that VECC would request that it acted reasonably and responsibly in the matter, and requests its costs on a 100 percent basis.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro, could you reaffirm your position on the 24-month?  I'm a little confused by our adopting both Union and CCC, because I see there's a difference between two.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, ultimately the CCC - and correct me if I am wrong – says that it exists as part of the risk-management program as it was implemented in the 2003-0063 decision. 


And I agree with that, that the risk-management program is unchanged, that the reason that we're here today arguing over that particular part of the program is because there was a Natural Gas Forum which suggested that (inaudible) approval of (inaudible) contracts, and that other than that procedural question, we think that it's --

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you support Union's notion that pre-approval should be received, then?  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I have no position on whether or not they need it or not.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  What I'm saying is that I think it's contemplated in their existing policy.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to propose a schedule for today, and if you have any concerns with it, please let me know.  I suggest we take an early lunch of 50 minutes and return at a quarter to 1, and then take a half hour break sometime in the middle of the afternoon.  Does anyone have any concerns with that? 

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Madam Chair, I just have one, if I may. 

My submissions for LIEN are likely to be five minutes, and my friend here has already offered to let me go in front of him, which would mean I'd be first up after lunch.  And if I may seek your indulgence, just to do my submissions, and the indulgence of the parties, before we break for lunch for five minutes?

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I was just going to add, mine will be within the 15 minutes, and you could get rid of me before lunch as well, if that suited your convenience.

     That would suit me because I am involved in the NGEIR settlement conference and would prefer to get back sooner rather than later.  But if you have to break at noon, then I can come back and make my submissions at 1 o'clock.

     MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have any comments about the schedule?  Does it work for you, Mr. Smith?

     MR. SMITH:  It does, if the Board were inclined to take a half an hour break this afternoon.  I have a particular time when I might like that to occur, simply because I have a conference call on a Superior Court matter, but I can make whatever arrangements are to the parties' convenience.  So I'm fine either way.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     All right.  Why don't we go ahead, then, with LIEN and then Mr. Thompson.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. ABOUCHAR:
     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Juli Abouchar, counsel for LIEN, and my submissions will be brief.

     Earlier in this hearing the panel struck out the evidence filed by LIEN on a rate affordability program for low-income consumers, and in doing so, the panel noted that

LIEN raised an important policy issue and directed Board Staff to suggest a forum and timing for considering a rate affordability program. 
     And my very brief submissions today are just to provide, if I may, some suggestions to the Board when implementing the Board's direction.

     I will speak to three aspects:  The issue that's to be considered, the forum, and timing.

     On the issue, LIEN recommends the consideration of the generic issue of whether residential rate schedules for energy utilities should include a rate affordability/assistance program for low-income consumers;

B, what that rate affordability program should be; and, C, its applicability across all utilities.  So that's the generic issue that LIEN is recommending be considered.

     The forum, we recommend that the forum be a generic hearing similar to the DSM generic hearing currently underway.  The benefit of a generic hearing as opposed to another forum is that, A, all interested parties can participate; B, evidence can be presented and tested; and, finally, the decision could be implemented across all utilities.

     And then, on timing, low-income people in Ontario are in urgent need of a rate affordability program.  It's hard to think about this with this heat wave we're currently in, but many people on low income have to choose between eating and staying warm.  As rates increase, this need becomes more acute.

     As future hearings may be multi-year hearings, it's critical that the generic rate affordability program take place sooner rather than later, before rates get locked in for multiple years and puts this issue off for longer.

     We recommend, then, that the generic hearing on rate affordability be held in late summer or early fall of 2006, in order to address the needs of low-income energy consumer next winter, and perhaps this would require a first-year interim program to implement.

     But, in any event, if timing doesn't work, the subject should be fully explored and implemented in time for the 2008 winter season, and that would mean having a decision from the generic hearing that could be implemented into the 2008 rate hearings.

     Just a few other issues.  One minor housekeeping issue that we note an error in the transcript on page 41.  LIEN's response to CCC's interrogatory was that LIEN has undertaken to seek other funds for this work, referring to Mr. Colton's work, and Mr. Smith incorrectly inserted the word "not" into that statement.  So I just wanted, for the record, to correct that as a housekeeping matter.

     LIEN has reviewed all the transcript and has listened to the audio recording, and takes no position on the risk management issue or the M1/M2 split.

     And finally, LIEN has acted reasonably with their time in this matter, and as set out in our intervention letter,

LIEN intends to seek an award for costs for participating in this hearing.

     Thank you again for your indulgence, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Abouchar.  I should make a comment.  Unless everybody's writing their submissions to reply to your submissions, that this Panel won't be making any further comment or decision regarding the low-income plan than we already have in regards to the motion.  Your comments are on the record now, and you might be wise to submit those to Board Staff as well.

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you.  That was my intention. 

Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. Thompson?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Aboucher, the correction that you were referring to, can you give me that reference again?

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  It's on page 41 of the May 23rd transcript, the transcript from the motion day.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  LIEN's response to CCC's interrogatory was correctly that "LIEN has undertaken to seek other funds for this work,” referring to Mr. Colton’s work, but apparently the word "not" had been inserted into the transcript reading of that response. 

     MS. NOWINA:  What line was that?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's 27.  Is that correct?

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  “LIEN has undertaken not to seek other funding, and it should read, "LIEN has undertaken to seek other funding."

     MS. ABOUCHAR:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  
     IGUA has brief submissions to make with respect to all but one of the few remaining unresolved issues.  I do not intend to review the evidence in any detail.  I assume that you and your fellow Panel members are familiar with it.

     The one document I would ask you to have at hand for the purposes of my submissions is Exhibit M.1.7.  It's a brief submitted by my friend, Ms. DeMarco, and there are a couple of excerpts in that material to which I wish to refer.

     Let me begin with issues 3.15 and 3.16.  3.15 being, the issue:  Is the proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan appropriate?  And issue 3.16, the appropriateness of the gas cost risk-management program.

     If you turn to tab 1A of Exhibit M.1.7, you'll find an excerpt from Union's pre-filed evidence with respect to risk management.  It's Exhibit D1, tab 1, and at page 16, Union describes the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.  And in the first two paragraphs there it is described, at least our initial interpretation was, that this is a security of supply type of plan.  The introductory paragraph deals with gas supplies generally, and then the next paragraph deals with Union's proposal: 
“Given current and expected market conditions, going forward, Union is seeking approval to purchase 20 percent of its total sales/service/supply portfolio on a rolling 24-month fixed cost basis."

So our initial reception was that we were dealing with a security of supply type of proposal.

     We now understand the evidence to be that Union will not be altering its gas supply portfolio mix of volume and contract terms, but rather it will be through a risk-management program or tool, mechanically locking in for a period of two years the price it pays each month for 1/24th of 20 percent of its system gas supply portfolio.

     So the proposed measure is a risk management price-smoothing measure and does not have, as we understand it, any impact on the security of system gas supply.  And it's in that context that we make these submissions.

     The proposed 24-month fixed cost "purchase plan" is a risk management measure, and it therefore falls, in our view, within the ambit of the next issue, issue 3.16 the appropriateness of the gas cost risk-management program.  And it's to that issue which I now turn.      
     Now, that brings me to the second document in the book that I mentioned, which is the excerpts from the Board's decision in the Enbridge case, which you'll find under tab 

4B, excerpts pertaining to this issue that -- as it arose in the Enbridge case.  And that is a decision that was delivered earlier this year, February 9, 2006.  And you'll find the excerpt starting at page 27 of the decision, and if you just want to go over to page 29 and keep that open, I'll come to some references there in a moment.

     The point is, though, that from my client's perspective, the starting point for your consideration of this issue 3.16 is the recent EGD decision, not the earlier

Union decision to which Mr. Smith and Mr. Warren have referred.
     And it's in the recent EGD decision that, first of all, you'll note at paragraph 5.5.4 on page 28, IGUA expressed support for the position that Energy Probe was advocating in that case.  And the Board, in its decision, had some further observations to make about the submissions of Energy Probe at paragraphs 5.5.9 and following.
     You might wonder why IGUA took the position in the EGD case and takes the position in this case in favour of discontinuing the risk-management program.  In the context of the fact that all IGUA members engage in gas cost risk management for the purpose of reducing gas price volatility, they do it because of its consequential impact on net income and profit.  For IGUA members, risk management is the only tool available to reduce gas price volatility and its impact on profits.
     For Union, a different rationale for risk management applies.  Gas price volatility has no impact, system-gas price volatility has no impact on Union's net income. 

System-gas price volatility only affects Union's ratepayers.  And the burden or the benefit of this risk management activity rests with Union's ratepayers and not its shareholder.
     For Union's ratepayers, risk management is not the only tool available being used to reduce price volatility.  There's the QRAM process, with the PGA feature of it, as well as the equal billing plan, and the risk-management program is really an increment to those measures.  
     And the Board recognized this, I submit, in the EGD decision at page 29, where it said in paragraph 5.5.9 as follows, after reciting all of this:
"... all of which is to say that in its implementation of the QRAM, its approach to the PGVA and the existence of equal billing plans, the Board accepts the principle that some form of price smoothing is an appropriate consumer protection measure.  It is also important to emphasize that no matter what smoothing techniques are employed, the most that could be hoped for is a reduction in volatility, not an overall reduction in the price of the commodity over time.  Subject to possible generational anomalies, consumer both large and small will pay the full burden of the market price for the commodity sooner or later."
     And the question, I submit, for determination in this case is the question you posed at the next paragraph of the decision in the EGD case, where you said as follows:
"The question that remains is the extent to which Enbridge's risk-management program is redundant or represents a useful and cost-effective tool to reduce consumer price volatility in a fair and reasonable way."
     And I would add there, as an increment to the existing QRAM program, the PGA process, and the equal billing program.  My submissions are made to you on the basis those measures will remain in place.

     You go on in your reasons:
"The company provided evidence which seemed to show that its hedging activity smoothed its experience of commodity price fluctuation.  No evidence has been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity has had a material effect” –- I emphasize the word material – “on the volatility experienced by customers, given the effects of QRAM, the PGVA, and equal billing programs over the same period.  If hedging activity” -- and I say as an increment to these programs – “has no material effect on the volatility experienced by customers, then it may be that the risk-management program is not required."
     And so that is question of fact that, I submit, is before you.  In this case, is the hedging activity that Union engages in as an increment to QRAM and PGVA and equal billing, does it have any material effect on the volatility experienced by consumers?  If it doesn't, then the program is not required and, in our submission, should be discontinued.

     I do not intend to take you through all the evidence that you've heard with respect to the incremental impact of this activity on price volatility.  We believe, and urge you to find, that any incremental smoothing is negligible, and, in the words of your decision, the hedging activity has no material incremental effect on the volatility experienced by customers, and that the program should be discontinued.

     So we reiterate the support that we expressed in the 2006 Enbridge decision for discontinuance of the program.

     Coming back, then, to the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan measure.  That, in our view, is just another risk management tool that's a feature of the gas cost risk-management program.  And if you agree with our submission that this program is not having any material incremental beneficial effect, then all elements of it should fall, including the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan proposal.

     And I simply leave this item with this rhetorical question.  Mr. Warren asked, what's the mischief of continuing?  I say, what's the benefit of continuing this program, the benefit to ratepayers?

     and I ask myself:  Why is Union fighting so vigorously to obtain or retain risk management in the context of these other two smoothing, or other three smoothing devices, when it's really not having any impact on Union's shareholders at all, as we understand it?

    And the answer, I suggest, to that question is, I ask myself:  Who else benefits from the gas cost risk management hedging program?  And the only other party that benefits is the counterparties.  And the evidence, as I understand, indicates affiliates are not precluded from the constituency of the counterparties that can be involved in this activity.

     But the bottom line is, I submit, the question that you asked in the Enbridge case should be answered in this case, that there's no material benefit to this program as an additive to the other measures.

     The next unresolved issue I wanted to just touch on is issue 6.1.  Is the full schedule of rates proposed in Exhibit H.3, tab 2, appropriate?  IGUA's primary concern here was with what seemed to be a disproportionate increase in the demand charge in rate T1, and we cross-examined on this issue by reference primarily to Exhibit M.1.6.

     In the final analysis, we have no alternatives to Union's proposals to suggest at this time.  The end result is that in this case we do not oppose any of the rates, rate schedules that Union proposes which apply to large-volume industrial gas users.

     Let me turn just quickly to a couple of other points.

     Issue 6.2, the propose to split the M2 class.  I'm sure you're aware that this rate does not apply to IGUA members, and we have no specific suggestions to make with respect to the appropriate split.  But we do urge you to approach the matter on a principled basis. 
     And as a matter of principle, we urge you to determine the breakpoint where the load/costs of service differences are such to justify the separation of the class into its subclasses.

     The principles that you apply with respect to this rate class and the split of this rate class are important to IGUA because there's another rate class split proposal before the Board, not this Panel of the Board but the Panel of the Board that will be hearing the NGEIR proceedings, where what's before the Board is a proposal to split the T1 rate class into four subclasses.  And so the impacts of the principles that you apply in this particular matter before you in this case will, we believe, have some influence on and relevance to a determination of the reasonableness of the split being proposed of the T1 class in the NGEIR proceedings.

     With respect to issue 6.3, the proposal to increase the monthly charge, we have no submissions to make with respect to this topic.

     Finally, with respect to costs, I will make a few brief points here, responding to the invitation of my brother Warren.

     The first is that without a cost award, IGUA's ability to fully participant in proceedings before the Board will be materially compromised, and accordingly, in this case, like in every other case, we request that we be awarded 100 percent of our reasonably incurred costs.  The participation of counsel for IGUA in these proceedings was more pronounced during the settlement conference than it was during the hearing of the remaining unresolved issues, and we believe that our efforts materially assisted the parties to arrive at the settlement which the Board has now approved.

     IGUA recognizes, and we assume the Board recognizes, that the settlement may not be the last word on Union's 2007 rates because there's a $44.5 million item of revenue requirement which is at risk in the NGEIR proceedings, and this relates to the so-called storage premium.  IGUA does not expect that this risk will materialize.  However, if it does, then its impact on the 2007 base for rates will need to be reviewed by a Panel of the Board, and which one that will be I'm not quite sure.

     Notwithstanding the fact that there is this risk to the revenue requirement settlement amount, IGUA regards the settlement to be in the public interest and is gratified that the Board saw fit to approve it.

     In short, we urge you to find that our participation in the process has been responsible, hopefully of assistance, and justifies the request and an award of 100 percent of IGUA's reasonably-incurred costs.

     Unless there are any questions, those are the submissions of IGUA.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, thank you.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one.

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson, just on the risk management portion, you mentioned that your client's members, their view of it in relation to their own activities in this area, that they're basically doing it for the bottom line.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  If the Board were to conclude that it's good social policy or public apologize to allow the continuation of the risk-management program as it stands now, how would you see that your members would be disadvantaged by that, in that, are they gaining the benefits in that along the lines of the other customer groupings, or in relation to them?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the system-gas costs have an impact on IGUA members through compressor fuel, company-used gas, lost or unaccounted-for gas, and any rate base items that are gas-cost related.  So it's not a big ticket item, but it is -- in the context of, I guess, regulatory principle, if there's no benefit, incremental benefit, from the activity, it costs something, I think $100,000, but how many insurance policies do you need, I guess is the way my clients look at it.  
     We've got QRAM, we've got PGVA, we've got equal billing for system gas costs.  So that's a lot of belts and suspenders.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize in this proceeding that the cost allocation was a settled item, but as you revisited this issue and redefined it in your mind as to where it should be parked, what you're defining to me is perhaps an allocation concern?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Not really.  It's where it turns up in the cost-of-service.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then how it gets allocated across customer class is -- that's not a concern of ours.  We think it's being -- gas costs are being properly allocated, as far as my clients are concerned.  It would just have an impact on the overall system-gas costs of the utility, some of which get picked up by large-volume customers in different ways.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  With that, we will take our lunch break and return at 5 minutes past 1.  
     And Ms. Young, are you next up?

     MS. YOUNG:  I believe so, yes, I am.

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:09 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any matters come up during the break?

     MR. SMITH:  Well, yes, in that I've made alternative arrangements for my phone call.

     MS. NOWINA:  I was going to ask you to whom your phone call was.

     MR. SMITH:  No, it's quite all right.  It doesn't need my participation at all.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Ms. Young.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. YOUNG:
     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I will only be about five minutes.

     OAPPA's argument is focussed solely on issue 6.2, the split of the M2 class.  Certain of OAPPA's members in 

Union's southern operations area are contract customers under the M4 and/or M5 rate schedules; however, all have a number of M2 accounts that vary considerably in terms of annual consumption levels.  Therefore, the M2 split issue has been of direct interest to the universities.

     In general, OAPPA is supportive of the relief sought by the School Energy Coalition with respect to the nature of and the reasons for the additional analysis concerning the split of the M2 class.  And so OAPPA does not propose to repeat them in its submissions.

     However, we would like to touch on three practical matters.  If the Board does direct Union to undertake additional analysis with respect to splitting the M2 group,

OAPPA submits that there are three practical considerations to be addressed, and these were touched upon in cross-examination of the Union panel.

     The first is whether there could or should be an interim restructuring while additional analysis is being completed.  The second consideration is the timing of the implementation of the outcome of the analysis.  The third is whether interested parties should be consulted as part of the additional investigation.

     Concerning the first point, it is OAPPA's position that a restructuring of the M2 class should be done only once.  Therefore, should additional analysis be directed, it is preferable the current structure remain in place until a final structure is identified and approved.

     As acknowledged by Union at transcript volume 3, pages 72 and 73, the preferred route to avoid customer confusion is to make the change and deal with the communication issue all at once, and not prolong it in any way.      


Turning to the timing for implementation of the results from additional study, OAPPA's first choice would be implementation of the outcome at the beginning of 2008 if it is practical to do so.  Should 2008 be the first year of an incentive regulation term, then OAPPA agrees with 

Mr. Kitchen, who expressed at page 72 of volume 3 of the transcript that:

“If January, 2008 implementation is preferred, to limit rate changes throughout the incentive term …”



However, OAPPA acknowledges that this may be impracticable.  Mr. Kitchen stated at page 74 of the May 26th transcript that:

“The implementation date would likely be effected if Union is required to consider a different proposal and bring it forward for approval.  In that situation, 2007 would be the year to undertake additional analysis of alternatives to Union's proposed split, and 2008 would then be the time for billing system changes to be completed."


Although not ideal, opposite the timing of an incentive regulation term, OAPPA believes it is sufficient to allow sufficient time for the additional study for the Board's consideration and approval of a final M2 restructuring proposal, and for the required changes to Union's systems.

     This would lead to implementation of a restructured M2 class at the beginning of 2009, one term into an incentive term.  However, Union explained at page 72 of transcript volume 3 that:

"Implementation of a rate design change during an incentive term would not necessarily have serious detriment."


Therefore, if the Board finds additional analysis to be warranted, OAPPA submits that it would be appropriate to allow enough time for each step the process, but to also specify the latest date by which implementation is to be accomplished, that being the start of 2009, in all likelihood, so that the process is not open-ended.

     Finally, concerning the third consideration, that of consultation, it is OAPPA's submission that involving interested parties in additional analysis would serve to better ensure that the ultimate outcome is the final design for the restructured M2 class.  As Mr. Chernick indicated at pages 131 to 133 of the May 26th transcript:

"Even if parties could not agree on a structure to recommend to the Board, the exercise could produce a common analysis that all have agreed to and understand, and that could be used as the basis for achieving final resolution of the issue before the Board."


OAPPA notes that consulting with or attempting to seek a consensus among parties of diverse and even opposing interests is not at all new.  Certainly, a very recent example is the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review proceeding as it relates to the issue of rates and services for gas-fired power generators.

     Those are my submissions on the issue.

     Just with respect to costs, OAPPA respectfully submits that it has acted responsibly in this proceeding.  Its focus throughout has been on certain matters related to cost allocation and rate design, and this focus has been maintained in terms of its participation in the settlement conference and the hearing.  Therefore, OAPPA respectfully requests that it be awarded 100 percent of its reasonably incurred costs.  

     Thank you very much.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.

     Mr. Aiken, I believe you're next.

     MS. YOUNG:  Madam Chair, if I may just request that I be excused.  I also have to make my way down to the NGEIR meeting.

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.

     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. AIKEN:
     MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My argument is on behalf of the London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Purchasers Group.  The argument is divided into two main sections, risk management and rate design.  I will first deal with risk management.

     As we are all aware, the two unsettled issues are issues 3.15 and 3.16.  I'm not going to go into the history of the risk-management program, as it's been covered by previous submissions this morning.  The question this time around, in the view of the LPMA and WGSPG is, has anything changed?  The answer, in our submission, is nothing, with one possible exception.  


Union has testified that the risk-management program filed in the proceeding is effectively that approved by the Board in the RP-2003-0063 case.

     Further, Union has indicated that it was not seeking any changes with respect to the risk-management program, and that's in the transcript, volume 1, pages 96 and 97.

     The cross-examination on this issue was focussed on volatility and whether the risk management activities had a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers given the effects of the QRAM, PGVA, and equal billing programs.  Mr. Simpson indicated that volatility was examined in the previous case, and that Union's program was deemed to have been -- sorry, to have represented reasonable value prior to getting approval.  And that reference is transcript volume 1, page 99.

     LPMA and WGSPG submit that the risk-management program continues to provide reasonable value in that it continues to reduce the volatility and costs faced by customers.  There has been no evidence provided in this proceeding to the contrary.

     Union provided an exhibit - I believe it was Exhibit M.1.9 – that illustrated that on average the risk management impact on the PGVA clearing was a reduction of 16 percent.  Some parties have concentrated on difference in the rate rider, with and without risk management, of 0.2 cents per cubic metres, implying that such a small impact is not worth the cost.  The 0.2 cents per cubic metre is the equivalent of the 16 percent reduction.

     LPMA and WGPSG submit that the impact on the PGVA clearing is better illustrated in the figures shown in above the average on that exhibit.  In particular, in the columns labelled E versus F of Exhibit M1.9, there are numerous lines that show an impact of more than 30 percent all the way up to 50 percent. 


A review of columns E and F also provides some insight.  In particular, the rate rider shown at column E, with -- 
     MS. NOWINA:  Hold on, Mr. Aiken.  You have our attention, and we're looking up the exhibit.  Slow down a little, so we could follow you.

     Go ahead.

     MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I'll back up.  In the column labelled E versus F, there are numerous lines that show an impact of more than 30 percent, all the way up to 50 percent.  A review of columns E and F also provide some insight.  In particular, the rate riders shown in column E with risk management in place are from minus 1.6 cents to positive 2.6 cents for a total range of 4.2 cents.

     In the absence of risk management, as shown in column

F, the range is from a low of minus 1.7 cents to a high of 4.3 cents.  This represents a total range of 6.0 cents.

     In other words, the range of rate riders over this period is 30 percent lower as a result of the risk-management program.

     I indicated earlier that the question this time around, in our view, is; has anything changed.  And that the answer was that nothing had changed, with one possible exception.

     That exception, of course, is the introduction of the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.

    Union's risk-management program they have a number of tools at their disposal.  One of these tools is a purchase of fixed price gas.  The 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan, in our view, is simply a plan that utilizes one of the existing tools available to Union.  As such, it is, in fact, not an exception to the conclusion that nothing has changed.

     Union has brought forward the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan specifically as a result of natural gas forum report.  Union has interpreted that report to encourage utilities to speak prior approval before entering into long-term contracts.  

In summary, we submit that Union's gas cost risk-management program is still appropriate.  There is no evidence to indicate that anything has changed since the Board reviewed the program in detail and approved it.  The 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan is simply an extension of the risk-management plan and should also be deemed to be appropriate.

     I'm now moving on to the area of the rate design issues.  Each of the three unsettled issues will be dealt with separately.

     The first is issue 6.1, and it is:  Is the full schedule of rates as proposed in Exhibit H.3, tab 2, appropriate?  LPMA and WGSPG submit that the rates shown in H.3, tab 2 updated for the settlement agreement as shown in Exhibit M.1.6 are appropriate and accurately reflect the impact of the settlement agreement.

     Now, the submissions that follow related to the two remaining rate design issues are those of the London Property Management Association only.  The Wholesale Gas

Service Purchaser's Group makes no submissions ton following two issues.

     The first of these is issue 6.2:  

“Is the proposal for splitting the M2 rate class into the proposed M1 and M2 rate structure and rate levels and incurring the associated costs effective January 1st, 2008, appropriate?”

     Union Gas has responded to the Board directive in RP-2003-0063.  It is the submission of the LPMA that 

Union's proposal for the new M1 and new M2 rate classes should be approved by the Board.

     At pages 7 and 8 of Exhibit H.1, tab 1, Union sets forth their view on why the two new proposed rate classes differentiated on the basis of volume is the most appropriate rate design options.

     First, Union indicates that it most effectively addresses the issue of intraclass subsidy within the current M2 rate class by allowing for a more direct attribution of customer-related costs to small and large customers.  LPMA agrees with this and notes that this is a primary reason of the Board's RP-2003-0063 directive.  At page 147 of that decision with reasons, the Board stated, and I quote:

“It is counter-intuitive that a high-volume industrial user will incur the same amount of customer-related costs as a residential customer.  It seems unreasonable that Union cannot differentiate members of this class on the basis of consumption.  The Board therefore directs Union to direct a cost allocation and rate-design study, directed at separating low-volume and high-volume customers currently within the M2 rate class."

LPMA submits that this is what Union has done.  Some parties may not agree with the breakpoint between the small and large-volume customers, that being 50,000 cubic metres annually.

     However, there is no evidence on the record to indicate that there is a better level or levels that should be used.

     Indeed, in Union's northern and eastern operations area, the 50,000 cubic metre annual volume is precisely the split between rates 01 and 10.  No party has brought forward any evidence to suggest that this split in the north is not appropriate.

     Union's second point is that the proposal is consistent with the rate design principles used by Union in the design of all its rates in that it reflects differences in load profile and load factor and does not consider end-use.

     Again, LPMA agrees with this position.  Table 7 in the

Navigant report, which is Exhibit H.2, tab 1, shows the existing M2 rate class as an overall load factor of 42 percent.  That's the existing M2 rate class.

     The new M1 rate class has a load factor of 40 percent and the new M2 has a load factor of 47 percent.  Further, the load factors within the M1 rate class as proposed range from 32 percent to 41 percent, excluding the large industrial figures based on only those two customers.

     The load factors within the new M2 rate class range from 43 percent to 49 percent.

     Based on these figures, it appears that the dividing point between M1 and M2 is reasonable.

     The School Energy Coalition evidence takes issue with the calculation of the load factors for using an average daily use based on February consumption figures, rather than using a true peak-day estimate.

     Union has indicated that it does not have peak-day volumes for the customers served in the current M2 rate class, nor does it have estimates for peak-day use.

     In the absence of better data, LPMA accepts the methodology used by Union and Navigant to calculate these load factors.  LPMA has further comments on the lack of peak-day data later on in this submission.

     Union's third point is that the proposal has a minimum impact on the billing system and the associated costs. 

Again, LPMA accepts its view.  Adding additional rate class would not likely add substantially to the existing billing costs but LPMA is concerned that with an increasing level of granularity in rate classes for non-contract customers comes increased customer confusion.  This is especially true for commercial customers, which would likely spend the entire range of the M2 replacement rates.

     Finally, Unions in their evidence that the breakpoint of 50,000 cubic metres is the same as the current 

Board-approved breakpoint for rate 1 and rate 10 in Union's northern and eastern operations area.  While not a large factor in determining the breakpoint in the southern operations area, as LPMA noted previously, there is no evidence to indicate that there is a problem with the breakpoint in the northern and eastern operations area.

     There was some discussion on the smoothness of the transition between the upper end of the M1 and the lower end of the M2 rates.  We submit that this is not an issue.  As shown in the response to Undertaking U.2.4, a customer using 50,000 cubic metres annually under rate M1 would pay $2,936 - that's on page 2 of 5 - while the same customer would pay $2,938 under the new M2 rate - and that's at page 4 of 5 - for a difference of $2 or less than 0.07 percent.  In our view, it does not get much smoother than that.

     Another concern was the increase in the rate for those customers at the upper end of the M1 rate.  Again, as shown in Exhibit U.2.4, the impact is an increase of 5.9 percent on the distribution component of the bill.

     This was the largest increase of any customer under the M1 and new M2 rate schedules.  However, this increase, in relation to the total customer bill, that includes the gas commodity, is only 0.6 percent as shown in the response to Undertaking U.3.3.

     Like the School Energy Coalition, the London Property

Management Association has members that will fall into both of the new rates, M1 and M2.  Indeed, LPMA members will have both increases and decreases as a result of Union's proposal.

     Unlike the SEC, however, LPMA does not believe that a consultation with affected parties would be a worthwhile exercise in the event that the Board does not approve Union's proposal and opts to direct Union to do another study.

     If the Board believes that it is premature to move ahead at this time with the division of the existing M2 rate schedule into rates M1 and M2, as proposed by Union, and in the absence of any other alternative at this point in time, LPMA submits that the existing M2 rate schedule should remain in place until Union has sufficient time to review the class.

     The Board should direct Union to begin to accumulate peak-day use data over this interim period on all M2 customers, residential, commercial, and industrial, including the various different types of commercial and industrial customers, at a level that would distinguish different consumption patterns, load factors, and use in each of these categories.  This could be done, for example, by installing the appropriate metering technology at a statistically significant number of customers in each of the various customer categories.

     LPMA would further submit that any incremental costs incurred by Union to obtain this data should be tracked by

Union and brought forth for disposal in their next cost of service filing or their next filing that uses the results to propose replacement of the existing M2 rate class.

     As I noted earlier, LPMA supports Union's proposal. 

However, if the Board wants to take a step back and make sure this process is done properly once and only once, then it should encourage Union to take its time, gather the best data it can, and ensure that it has proper cost allocation data and methodologies available for whatever classes it proposes based on up to date information.

     Further, the review may also need to incorporate rates 01 and 10 in the northern and eastern operations area to ensure harmonization of methodologies and break points across their two operating areas.

     Moving on, now, to the third and final rate design

issue, and this is issue 6.3 -- is a proposal to increase the M2 and rate 01 monthly charge to $16, effective January 1, 2007, appropriate?

     Union proposes to increase the monthly fixed charge by $2 to $16 for monthly rates for rates M2 and 01.  LPMA supports this proposal.  Union's evidence, in our view is clear.  At Exhibit H1, tab 1, page 14 of the updated evidence that reflects the ADR agreement, i.e., exhibit M.1.6, Union states that:

"The current monthly charges of $14 per month recover approximately 64 percent of the customer-related costs for rate M2 customers and 49 percent for customer-related costs for rate 01 customers.  The increase to $16 per month will boost this recovery to 73 percent for rate M2 and to 56 percent for rate 01 customers.

“The impact on a typical residential customer in the south under rate M2 is $6.57 per year, or about 55 cents per month, and in the north a typical rate 01 customer would see an annual increase of $2.70 per year, or about 23 cents per month. These figures are shown in table 7 of Exhibit 1, tab 1, updated for the ADR agreement.”

     The response to undertaking U.3.2 shows a recovery of fixed charges for those rate classes that have a monthly customer charge.  The M2 fixed cost recovery, even at $16 per month, is still lower than that of all other rates in the south, which specifically are rates M5, T1, and T3.

     Rate 01 in the north is still lower than rates 20 and

100.

     LPMA agrees with the concerns expressed by other parties of the potential impact that the increase in the monthly customer charge can have on low-income individuals. 

This concern is based on the fact that small-volume customers have a proportionately higher increase as a result of the increase in the fixed monthly customer charge component of the bill.

     The concern is also premised on the belief that low-income customers are low-volume customers.  However, as

Union's witness Mr. Kitchen stated, Union does not have any studies that indicate that low-income ratepayers are low-volume customers.  In fact, Mr. Kitchen stated that he was not sure it was necessarily true, and this was at transcript volume 3, page 80.

     LPMA agrees that there is no evidence to support the link between low-income and low-volume use.  However, even if there is a link, the increase in the customer charge has two beneficial results that Mr. Kitchen pointed out.

     First, the majority of the increase resulting from the increase in the fixed charge takes place in the summer, when bills are significantly lower.
     Secondly, the impact of weather on a customer's total bill is lower because of the reduction in the delivery component of the bill to offset the increase in the fixed charge.  As a result, a colder than normal winter will have less of an impact on customers because they are not paying as much in their volumetric rates.

     Finally, moving on to everybody's favourite part, that being costs, both the LPMA and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group request that they be awarded 100 percent of their reasonably incurred costs for this proceeding.  Both parties submit that their participation and intervention has been done responsibly.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Mr. Aiken, I'd like to explore somewhat with you your alternate proposal. 

You're supporting Union in the M1/M2 split that they're suggesting, but if we were not to accept that and suggest a further study, you have some details around what that study should be, including suggesting that they should be collecting peak-day information, which I agree with you, the only way I can think of to do that is through some kind of Smart Meter, so a statistical sample of Smart Metering installation -- is that what you're suggesting?

     MR. AIKEN:  That's one possible suggestion.  There are other alternatives that would be more of a mathematical approach, using a 44-degree peak-day estimate on an average residential use.  But to actually go out and measure it, yes, you need some sort of statistical sampling of representative customers.

     MS. NOWINA:  If they were to do that and then analyze the data, what kind of time frame are you considering the implementation date that Union is going to implement these rates is 2008?  Do you have a sense of how long it would take to do such an in-depth study and then implement rates?

     MR. AIKEN:  I'm not sure how quickly they could put the meters in place, but I'm assuming that once they had the meters in place, it would be for a maximum of one year.  If they were going to put them in place in the spring, that's not going to help a lot, because you need them in place in the winter.  I would expect a time frame similar to what Ms. Young had suggested in the OAPPA submission, if they could have something in place for January 1 of 2009.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. AIKEN:  If I may ask to be excused too, I'm going to the same place everybody else is.

     MS. NOWINA:  Have a good time.  
     Mr. Scully, are you next?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCULLY:
     MR. SCULLY:  Yes, I am, Madam Chairman.  Thank you. 

The first items I'd like to address are items 3.15 and 3.16 in the Board's list of issues, or I guess our list of issues.

      And here I can thank Peter Thompson for saving us all a great deal of time, particularly me, because I can simply adopt his position, FONOM and the cities want Union out of the risk management business, to see the 24-month gas purchase removed as an extension of the risk management business as Union admits it is, and we'd just like to see them out of there, for the reason that Mr. Thompson advanced.

     A couple of other comments on that risk management business.   If the Board decides allow Union to continue in that business, or to continue carrying out that function, we're concerned about -- in our judgement there doesn't ever seem to be a point at which the Board makes a decision on prudence.  In the filing in this case, at Exhibit D.3, tab 2, schedule 4, line 9, I see the figure for risk management at $5,206,000.  


Yesterday I received Union's QRAM filing, and when I look in approximately the same place, in a similar schedule, I see that risk management is going to shift to $8 million.  And as the Board is aware, every time we have a QRAM, you've got a different number there.

     Now, I can hear Mr. Smith saying in reply, well, it is what it is.  But I think that somewhere along the way there should be a determination on prudence and I'm not sure how that's done.  And maybe it's there somewhere.  But the one place that I've looked is Union's current proceeding, EB-2006-0057, which deals with the final disposition of deferral accounts for 2005.  And I think cost of gas and risk management, therefore, just sort of slip through.  It never comes to a judgment, because that's not a deferral account or, if it is a deferral account, it's just sort of bounced out, and that's it.      

One final comment.  I think back behind what some of the parties are saying about risk management is that we find the QRAM process is quite powerful in presenting a price to the consumer but it's an awkward price.  It's not telling the consumer about the market.  And I recall when we first got into this business that Consumers Gas made a very good presentation about how they could do the market adjustment thing on a monthly basis.  And I'd urge the Board to go back and look at that filing, and think in terms of when we get into -- perhaps it’s in the generic proceeding, but I think having a monthly determination and having that price out there in front of the consumers would be a far more meaningful process.

     Turning to item 6.1:  

“Is a full schedule of rates as proposed by Exhibit H.3, tab 2, appropriate?”        

We have a much broader interpretation of what this section means than Mr. Smith and Union would like it to be.  

FONOM and the City's position is that, this late in the day, the rates for the northern zone of Union are still too dissimilar to those in the southern zone.  In my cross-examination, I tried to track down what the cost differential would be for a customer in the north versus one in the south, and if you follow my examination on the record, that's at the transcript from two days ago, page 52 on.

     And if you take a look at the updated schedule that

Union has filed as Exhibit M.1.6 in these proceedings, if you work with the first two pages, just multiplying out the price numbers that are there, it says that it costs $272 for a typical customer in the north more than one in the south.  Then later on in that filing, at tab 4, and it's pages 1 to 5, when you work out the differential it's somewhere around $160.

     And I have some expertise with rates, although I'm, you know, I suppose I'm an amateur.  But I can't figure out what the differential is.  And rates should be clear enough that somebody with my expertise can figure that out.

     The other major point that we have with regard to rate design is that the rates for the north are too high, and that's a matter of rate design rather than cost allocation. 

And I say that because rate design can and should start with rate zones, and when you've got one company, we are suggesting that one zone would be appropriate.

     And the easiest and the most dramatic example of that is with TransCanada Pipelines and their design of rates, back when it became a question of how do you set the rates for that very long pipeline.

     One of the matters that was considered was, is it appropriate that Toronto and Montreal should be in different rate zones?  And there was a big argument about how the cost differential was so great and so on.  But the rate design decision that was made by the National Energy Board was, they should be in the same rate zone.  They're both major economic areas.  They should be on an equal footing basis for a fundamental supply of energy.

     In our situation, there are so many things that disadvantage the north in terms of transportation and lack of population, of facilities, this is one area, I suggest to you, in which there could be a rationalization which could help the North with minimal cost to the South, simply by creating one rate zone and one rate.

     Moving on to the monthly charges, our preference is that there be no increase in the monthly charges, but we're going to leave that to the discretion of the Board.  You have the evidence before you, and we trust your judgment.

     I think those are all my submissions.  Thank you, Madam Chairman and Board Members.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.

     MR. SCULLY:  And I, too, would request costs for my reasonable participation at 100 percent, and ask to be excused.

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Scully.  Thank you.

     MR. SCULLY:  But I'm not telling you where I'm going.

     MS. NOWINA:  I have EGD on my list next.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. LANNI:

     MR. LANNI:  Good day, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.  For the record, my name is Richard Lanni, 

L-a-n-n-i, and I am counsel with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I will be making very brief submission on the issue of risk management.

     Parties have revisited the RP-2003-0063 decision numerous times in this proceeding.  For the purpose of

Enbridge's submission, it is suffice to say that with respect to risk management, the Board made three important findings.  Union's risk-management program provides value to ratepayers, Union's risk-management program is appropriate, and the changes implemented by Union Gas in 2004 were reasonable and likely to enhance the value of the program. 

Union subsequently implemented enhancements to its risk-management program.  Those enhancements did not significantly change the program's overall risk level.  But they did provide the ratepayer with increased rate stability.

     The issue was reviewed extensively in Union's last rate case, and Union has submitted that it is not proposing any changes to its risk-management program in this filing. 

The evidence has shown that since then, nothing has changed for the better, in terms of price volatility.  The tight gas supply and demand balance seen if the North American market today fosters an environment of continued price volatility.  Under cross-examination, at transcript 4, page 51, Mr. Adams confirmed that:

“We now have higher and more volatile gas prices than in the 1990s."

     Earlier in his testimony Mr. Adams also offered that:

"The price risk faced by customer increases as the volatility increases."

And that was at transcript 101, page 107.  

     Enbridge submits that, in light of current gas market conditions, the Board should encourage Union to continue its current risk-management program reasonably and appropriately as the Board might advise to mitigate the impact of price volatility on system-gas customers without diseasing longer-term price trends.

     Finally, Enbridge submits that the Board should permit the availability of a 24-month fixed purchase plan because it provides an additional option in Union's set of tools to mitigate price volatility that is reasonable and appropriate.

     And those are our submissions.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Lanni.  

Mr. Dingwall.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  With all the departing bodies, I look like I'm far out in left field.   

Hopefully, I won't provide that impression with my arguments as well.

     MS. NOWINA:  You don't want to move over, Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. DINGWALL:  Not for the very brief time that it will take to present my submissions.

     MS. DeMARCO:  I have that impact on people.

     MR. SMITH:  Just wait 'til I'm the last one 

MR. DINGWALL:  Unless the Board would prefer not looking this far over, I'm --

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Dingwall.  We're comfortable. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Fine.  First of all, with respect to issue 6.1, CME has no submission.  With respect to 6.2, CME agrees with the analysis put forward by The Schools and the suggestion by The Schools that there be further study.  M2

is a significantly broad rate class, which actually contains a significant number of CME members, and it's with all due respect to Union that we think that the process for changing a rate class should, on the one hand, involve more study, involving many of the points that Mr. DeVellis mentioned, but should also be a consultative and co-operative process. 


 Enbridge has recently undergone a similar process with respect to one of its rate classes which was quite successful and which demonstrated that that process can work.

     With respect to issue 6.3, moving right along, CME agrees with the company's proposal to increase the monthly customer charge.  It's a move in the right direction, the right direction being towards cost causality.  The

increase is not material, in our view, as it's offset by the charges moving from variable to fixed, so the customers would be paying the amount anyways; it merely moves more towards what proper cost causality should be with respect to what customers should be paying for billing systems collections, et cetera.


Now the fun starts.

     First of all, with respect to 3.15, we note that it was the Union witnesses’ response that that the proposal for the 24-month fixed price risk management was in addition to existing risk management activities, significantly increasing the scope of those activities.

     We look at this as essentially an incomplete, undetailed request for long-term purchase of fixed-price gas.  It's our respectful submission that any consideration of a long-term purchase contract for system supply should take into account many of the principles espoused by the Board as being relevant within the Natural Gas Forum report, which would include the impacts on competition, which would include review of what appropriate policies would be -- should include whether risks should be allocated, it should include the public interest, and should include least cost option.  Here we have no cost data at all.  We are simply being presented with the request that Union be given a broad approval to incrementally move towards fixing the price for, eventually, 20 percent of system supply.

     And that brings us to risk management.  Mr. Thompson has quite eloquently set out what we agree is the proper jumping-off point for the review of risk management in this process.

     This Board isn't bound by its past decisions.  It has the opportunity to look at matters year over year, and, as the emperor's wardrobe becomes more apparent, to then address things.  There are many examples of this.

     Since the early 1990s, the heating and ventilation industry has been crying foul, saying that there were cross-subsidies and that there was unfair competition.  And eventually, in 1999, the Board did look at the question of cross-subsidies.  Subsequent to that period, the impact on the exclusive sharing of the Enbridge bill by one market participant was also put forward to the Board on a number of successive years for further consideration as more information came to light.

     Risk management is another one of those issues.  In the Enbridge case, a number of key questions were asked about what the actual impacts of the program were.  In the

2003-0063 decision, the Board had difficulty measuring what the impacts of the program were, and admitted that as part of its decision.

     Now, that takes me, then, to Exhibit M.2.4.

     MS. NOWINA:  The equal billing plan?

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.

     There are two ways in which customers are impacted by volatility.  The first is with respect to the aggregate amount of charges on their monthly bills.  The aggregate amount of charges can be influenced through the equal billing plan.  

     Interestingly, Mr. Smith this morning quoted from the 0063 transcript, bringing out a horrific figure of $50 million as a PGVA true-up that could impact customers. 

And I was thinking over the break, what would that actually mean?  Is that a scary number?  $50 million in a PGVA account would be divided by the 630,000 approximate customers who would be on system supply times -- oh, I guess, from M2.2 we can get the January QRAM price, which is 40.9 cents.  So, that would work out to about somewhere in the area of $73 per customer if there were a $50 million PGVA true-up.

     $73 per customer on system supply is significantly less than 10 percent of the projected annual cost of gas for a customer based on a 40 cent QRAM of $1,036.

     So a $50 million PGVA true-up, which Mr. Smith was waving around to scare us with this morning, isn't actually very material when you come down it.  So in looking at what that impact would be on an equal billing plan customer, it's minimal, at best.  If anything, it moves the August number closer to being even with the other months. 

     Now, that's volatility with respect to aggregate bill costs, and it's our submission that the equal billing plan mitigates the total bill volatility on a per customer basis in that customer's view.  They see the bill.  It's even every month.  That smoothes their volatility.

     If they look closer on the bill, they then see a gas rate number.  And that's the number that arises from the QRAM.  There's an additional line, I think, for the rate rider in addition to that.  But that becomes their basis for comparison, what customers see as being the price that Union is putting on the table for commodity.

     Now, I'd like you to look at Exhibit U.2.2, which was an undertaking response.  And for comparison purposes, I'd also like you to refer to M.1.9.

     MS. NOWINA:  We have it.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  I'm suggesting the M.1.9 exhibit as it has the same units, being Canadian dollars per gJ, as the U.2.2 exhibit.  The U.2.2 exhibit provides us with the Alberta monthly settled prices from January '03 to January '06.  The M.1.9 column -- or exhibit, provides us in columns A and columns B with -- in column A, specifically, the Alberta border approved weighted average cost of gas, inclusive of risk management costs, and the B column provides us with the Alberta WACOG excluding forecast risk management.

     Now, the January WACOG would have been in effect until the March WACOG.  So if we wanted to look at what happened in the market prices, in January '03, in U.2.2, the variation was between $6.12 in January to $6.81 in February.

     Now, these prices are illustrative.  They're not the total aggregate of what was going on in the market, but they simply provide us with a monthly comparator.

     If we look at the amounts in column A and column B for

January of ’03 on Exhibit M.1.9, we see that they're the same number.  
     Now, if we take a look at the next line down on M.1.9, for March '03, under column A the number is $5.82; under column B, the number is $5.81.  If we then go back to

U.2.2, we see the monthly Alberta price of $9.61 and the April price of $6.74.  So, between those two months, the variation in monthly prices is $1.87.  However, the variation in prices on columns A and columns B is only one cent.

     It's our respectful submission that the market prices that customers see on the bill on the commodity line are mostly affected by the smoothing of the QRAM.  If you look at the difference in the market price or in the Alberta WACOG, including forecast risk management versus exclude forecast risk management, the differences between those two columns are minimal; whereas, when we look at what the actual market prices were during those time periods, the swings were much more significant.  They do not correlate to the difference between the A and B columns on M.1.19.

     Other parties have made reference to the competitive dampening effect of risk management.  We agree with those submissions.  In addition, we believe that risk management, of itself, in the dampening effect that it has on prices, will also dilute the efforts of individual customers to conserve energy.  The price signals aren't getting there.

     Now, this case isn't about the broader implications of

QRAM; that's, if anywhere, to be dealt with in a generic proceeding somewhere else.  This case is about risk management.

     In general, the principle of risk management does have an impact on a competitive market.  Mr. Adams has spoken to that once, I presume he will speak more to that.  But at the end of the day, there doesn't appear to be a dampening of the volatility associated with risk management that can't also be either attributed to or improved upon by the QRAM process as it exists today or by the equal billing process.  

     Union's evidence on the equal billing plan was that there are no restrictions on entry into equal billing plan.  There's nothing with respect to a customer's credit that would prevent them from enrolling, and there's nothing with respect to a customer's choice of supplier that would prevent them from enrolling.  It's open to everybody; low-income, high-income, no-income, subject, of course, to their about to pay the bill.

     My final submission is with respect to costs.  CME has behaved as responsibly as it generally does --

     MR. SMITH:  As it can.

     MR. DINGWALL:  -- and occasionally humorously.

     MS. NOWINA:  Which we appreciate.

     MR. DINGWALL:  And we would respectfully request that we receive 100 percent of our reasonably-incurred costs.  I was going to say reasonably allocated, but that's another door I don't wish to open.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.

     MR. DINGWALL:  No, thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco.  Are you next?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

     MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair, I could be cheeky and say that I have 15 plus 15 minutes for the two series of clients, but just to inform you, I have very brief comments in relation to Coral and TransAlta, and a few, slightly more lengthy but not too lengthy, comments in relation to Superior in relation to the risk management.  

First, pertaining to TransAlta and Coral’s final argument, their argument relates specifically to issues 6.1, and for the record, they find themselves much in the same position as the City of Kitchener and IGUA, in that they do not oppose the proposed rate design in this proceeding.

     However, in taking this position, TransAlta and Coral would like to make two brief points.  The first is that both TransAlta and Coral would like to emphasize to the Board the importance and interrelationship of issues determined in this proceeding and in the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review proceeding, and the impact of those decisions on natural gas-fired electricity generators, and their many customers.

     And secondly, both TransAlta and Coral would like to take this opportunity to commend Board and the parties for facilitating the efficient settlement of the rate premium issue in this forum, and thereby streamlining the number of issues that need to be resolved in the context of NGEIR proceeding.  So, by way of a thank you, that is the end of TransAlta and Coral's submissions.

     Moving on to the final argument of Superior, Superior's argument deals almost exclusively with issues 3.15, and 3.16.  On these issues, putting it out front, I find myself somewhat deflated Mr. Thompson so eloquently and efficiently covered much of the ground that I had hoped to cover, so I will be referring to his submissions from time to time.

     The specific relief requested by Superior on these issues is two-fold.  First, Superior's asking that the Board deny Union's request for approval of a 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.  And secondly, Superior is requesting that the Board make a finding that Union's hedging activities, apart from the QRAM, PGVA, and equal billing plan, have had no material impact on customer-experienced volatility, and that the Union risk-management program is, therefore, no longer required.

     In support of this requested relief, I'll be making four main submissions.  The first is that the appropriate context for the Board's review of this issue is that set out in the Board's Natural Gas Forum decision, and the Board's decision in EGD RP-2005-001.

     The second is that the company's proposed fixed-cap cost purchase plan is not necessary, and Union's requested approval of yet to be determined long-term supply contracts with yet to be determined counterparties would insulate those contracts from further Board review and is not in the interest of customers.

     My third submission is that an examination of the reported costs and benefits of Union's risk management activities today does not support that Union's hedging activity has had a material effect on customer-experienced volatility and, therefore, the risk-management program should not be continued.

     And finally, this goes to Mr. Warren's part of “what mischief,” our fourth submission will be that the proposed fixed-cost purchase plan and Union's risk management activity have not been consistent with the Board's objectives as set out in sections 2(1), (2), and (5) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

     So, briefly, on my first submission in terms to have context in which the Board should make this difficult decision, which the parties are clearly divided on, parties have urged the Board to refrain from considering Union's current risk-management program and proposed 24-month fixed cost gas purchase plan in the face of the Board's decision 2003-0063.  They've indicated that that decision is definitive on this issue, and nothing has changed.

     It's with great respect for my colleagues that I submit to you that much has changed since March 18th, 2004, when the Board made its decision in the RP-2003-0063 decision.  Specifically, these changes include broad, sweeping changes to the legislation which governs the Board and the electricity sector.  Such changes emphasize a new emphasis of the government on conservation.

     Secondly, those changes include the Board's decision in the Natural Gas Forum, which included a specific examination of some of the issues that we find ourselves confronted with today.

     Third, the Board's decision in Enbridge 2005-0001 provided new and further direction on the contemplation of risk management.

     Fourth, Union now has actual data and results that were submitted in this proceeding to further evaluate the efficacy and efficiency of Union's proposed 24-month  fixed-cost purchase plan as part and in addition to Union's risk-management program.

     And last, but not least, Union's proposed changes to implement a 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan is also a new and additional element that requires a deviation, or further consideration from the 2003-0063 decision.  So it's

on the basis of the decision in 2003-0063, which specifically contemplates a further review of risk management activities, and the plethora of changes that have occurred since that decision that Superior advocates and supports IGUA in submitting that the context should be, first, the Board's decision in Enbridge's 2005-0001 test, and, second, the evaluation criteria set out by the Board in the Natural Gas Forum.

     Specifically, we would advocate that the Board should govern itself by the following test.  Has Union demonstrated whether the hedging activity as an increment to QRAM and equal billing, has it had a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers, given the effects of the QRAM, the PGVA and equal billing program over the same period, in addition to the test made out by the Board's decision in the Natural Gas Forum, which clearly indicates, page 72, that the Board is not in favour of new long-term utility supply contracts at this time, and at page 73 that the Board would consider pre-approving supply contracts affecting security of supply.

     At a high level, Superior submits that both the test as set out in Enbridge and the basis for the Board's decision in the Natural Gas Forum do not support either the continuation of the risk-management program or the proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.

     Moving on to my second main submission, which is that the proposed fixed-cost purchase plan itself is not necessary, and it constitutes a pre-approval of yet to be determined contracts or very significant volumes,

240 million gigaJoules, to be exact, with yet-to-be-determined counterparties.  There has been no evidence submitted or adduced by Union that supports the need for the fixed-cost purchase plan as a security of supply issue.

     Similarly, there has been no evidence submitted by

Union that supports general need of customers for additional risk-management programs.

     On those two grounds alone, Superior submits that

Union has not proved the necessity of this additional 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan.

     Secondly, on this subpoint, volume 2, page 20, line 19, of the transcript.  At that point, Mr. Simpson confirms that one of the impacts of the proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan is to increase, potentially, the hedgeable volumes that the company undertakes to hedge.  And it's our submission that that increase is not warranted or made out.

     Third, the evidence has confirmed that the impact of the proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan may be to insulate specific long-term contracts entered into in the future, which, in fact, may be with affiliates, from further review.

     Now, it's with respect that Superior submits that this

Board’s discretion, the discretion to review long-term contracts, is not something that the Board wishes to do away with, in considering the potential impacts on customers and in light of the Board's clear wording in the Natural Gas Forum indicating that it is not in favour of long-term contracts.

     Moving on, then, to my third submission, which is in relation to the costs and benefits associated with Union's current risk management activity.  Again, to emphasize the point, this is new data that was not before the Board in the 0063 proceeding.

     In relation to the costs associated with the program,

Ms. Piett, specifically at volume 2, page 30, lines 2 to 8 of the transcript, confirmed that in certain instances the reference price has been at least or as much as 32 cents per gigaJoule higher as a result of Union's risk management activities.

     She also confirmed, at page 30, line 26, and page

31, lines 1-6, the impact of that risk management activity occasionally is to deprive customers of money that would otherwise be back in their pockets.

     Further, at volume 2, page 33, line 10, Ms. Piett confirmed that, as a result of the company's risk management activities, customers are paying on average 0.3 cents higher to decrease positive or negatively the rate rider by, on average, 0.2 cents.  Cost/benefit analysis; paying 0.3 to get 0.2.  It's Superior's submission that the value is not made out by those statistics.

     But most tellingly, Panel members, is the Exhibit 

M.2.2.  And if I can ask you to turn that up.  By way of reference, the bottom line on M.2.2 confirms that the volatility impact of risk management on PGVA as a function of gas costs, so a true measure of volatility in relation to gas costs, is not 39 percent, it is not 16 percent.  It is 1 percent.  Bottom-right corner of that exhibit.

     Risk management activity to date has resulted in a 1 percent decrease in a measurement of volatility as a result of Union's activities.

     Further, an examination of Exhibit M.1.2 shows that, in the past five years, not in the past eight years as indicated by the company, but in the past five years, risk management activity, based on the mark to market figures, has cost customers $47 million.  A summation of the figure is included in Exhibit M.1.10.

     Moreover, in addition to the costs that customers have paid in relation to the commodity costs, the evidence on the record is that there are a number of cost-of-service activities that customers have also paid through, through O&M costs.  These costs include costs associated with corporate governance.  This is confirmed by Mr. Simpson at volume 2, page 33, line 28; costs associated with commodity risk management again, volume 2, page 34; the costs associated with physical risk management transactions, at page 35 of volume 2; the cost associated with all the controls on risk management, that's page 36; the front office and credit compliance functions; the monitoring of risk management data, we're at page 36 of volume 2, still, and conducting the audit function of risk management activities.

     In fact, Mr. Adams confirmed that we do not have fully-allocated costing data to assess the true cost of risk management activities on that portion of the cost-of-service requirement.

     Moving on to my fourth and final submission, which is the impact in relation to cost management, the mischief, so to speak, and how it does not fall and is not consistent with the Board's objectives in the Ontario Energy Board Act.      

First, it's Superior's submission that Union's proposed risk management activities do not facilitate competition in the sale of gas, as consistent with the Board objective in section 2(1).  

     At volume 4, page 28, Mr. Adams confirmed that the impacts of risk management may have prevented customers who would have moved to a competitive service provider from moving to that competitive service provider.  This was also confirmed by Mr. Simpson at volume 2, page 43, lines 1-3.

     In fact, Mr. Adams confirmed that the company's own risk management policy expressly acknowledges the competitive tension between risk management and direct purchase.  It's at volume 4, page 30.

     Secondly, Superior submits that Union's risk management activity is not consistent with the Board's objective to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and reliability.

     Volume 2, page 30, Ms. Piett confirmed that, generally, customers are paying higher prices, and they may be deprived of money become in their pocket as a result of risk management activity.  And again, the statistic was 0.3 cents on average higher costs for 0.2 cents on average reduction in volatility.

     Superior also submits that Union's proposed risk management activity is not consistent with the Board's objective to promote energy conservation and energy efficiency.  In fact, the evidence of both Mr. Simpson and

Mr. Adams was such that risk management activities may inhibit or impede customers from conserving or exploring energy efficiency options in relation to higher or slightly more volatile prices.  The references there are volume 4, pages 23 and 32, and volume 2, page 44, lines 24 to 26.

     And finally, Superior submits that Union's risk management activities are not consistent with the Board's objectives to promote communication within the gas industry and the education of customers.  Specifically, at volume 4, page 23, Mr. Adams indicated that risk management impedes customers' abilities to accurately compare prices.  At volume 4, page 32, line 6, Mr. Adams also confirmed that it impedes customers from educating themselves as to what is available in the market relating to energy-efficiency options.

     Based on those submissions, Superior asks that the

Board grant the relief requested, specifically that the

Board deny Union's requested approval of the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan, and make a finding that the hedging activity, apart from the QRAM, PGVA, and equal billing plan, has had no material impact on customer-experienced volatility and, therefore, Union's risk-management program is no longer required.

     In relation to this second requested relief, Superior would like to provide two alternatives as well.

     In the first alternative, Superior asks that the Board order Union to put a moratorium on its risk management activities until the Board can review the costs, benefits, and impacts of utility risk management in the generic proceeding relating to the same.

     In the further alternative, Superior requests that the

Board order Union to limit its risk management activities to intra-year transactions with terms of no more than

12 months, until such time that the Board can review the cost, benefits, and impacts of utility risk management in a generic proceeding.

     Those are Superior's submissions.  We thank you for the opportunity to make them.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

     I have a couple of questions for clarification, Ms. DeMarco.  The first one was in reference to M.1.10.  And I think you said that a review of that document would allow you to reach the conclusion that there was a $47 million cost for risk management.  Is that correct?

     MS. DEMARCO:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Can you tell me how you did that calculation, Ms. DeMarco?

     MS. DEMARCO:  Yes, by looking at the middle row of M.1.10, entitled, "mark-to-market" and adding up the figures from 2001 to 2005.

     MS. NOWINA:  From 2001 to 2005?

     MS. DEMARCO:  Right.  So, adding up 65.5, 19.9, minus 30.4, plus 1.9, minus 9.9.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  If you could clarify one statement that you made.  And I'm paraphrasing, I don't have the transcript.  But I believe you made a statement to the effect that one of Union's motivations may be to insulate future contracts, potentially contracts with affiliates, from Board review.  Am I correct in that?

     MS. DEMARCO:  With a slightly different characterization.  One of the potential impacts of approval of the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan could be that Union enters into a contract with an affiliate that is then insulated from review by the Board as a function to have Board's blanket approval of this unknown 24-month, 

Fixed-cost purchase plan in this proceeding.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  

I think that's all.  Thanks, Ms. DeMarco.

     MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Ruzycki.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. RUZYCKI:

     MS. RUZYCKI:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.

     A number of the parties before me have touched on or expressed the views that I will express, but briefly -- Ms. DeMarco, Mr. Dingwall, and Mr. Thompson with respect to issue 3.15 and issue 3.16.  The submissions today of Ontario Energy Savings LP will focus on only those two issues, issue 3.15, the appropriateness of Union's proposed 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan, and issue 3.16, the appropriateness of the gas cost risk-management program.

     Union is seeking in its 2007 rates application approval to purchase 20 percent of its total sales, service, supply portfolio on a fixed cost basis over a term of 24 months.  Union indicates at Exhibit D.1, tab 1, page 16, line 14, that:

“In Union's view, sales service customers' interests would be served by further diversifying the sales service supply portfolio to incorporate a fixed cost component.  Union's reason for proposing the 24-month, fixed-cost purchase plan is that recent price movement in the market has elevated customer concerns around absolute price levels as well as the volatility of natural gas prices.”


OESLP does not support Union's proposed 24-month, fixed-cost purchase plan.  Specifically, OESP finds the purchase plan unnecessary and inconsistent with the 

Board's objectives, which provide in part, under Schedule

B, Part I, section 2 of the OEB Act, the following guidelines:  To facilitate competition in the sale of natural gas to users; to promote energy conservation and efficiency; and to provide for the education of consumers.

     OESLP submits that the acceptance of Union’s proposed Union's fixed-cost purchase plan, allowing Union to further smooth the system supply commodity prices, goes against these objectives.  Prices that lag the market significantly do not send the proper signals with respect to consumer conservation, and subsequently decrease consumer awareness.  
It is OESLP’s strongly held view that the acceptance of Union's proposed plan would further distort consumer prices and make price signals less transparent, reduce customer awareness, and, taken together, effectively impede customer mobility.  


We submit that if the Board approves Union's request, market pricing and system supply pricing will significantly diverge from each other, and effectively undermine the ability of consumers to make informed choices when considering marketers' fixed price offerings in the Ontario marketplace.


OESLP contends that the natural gas market is by nature anything but static.  Changes occur with great frequency, and these fluctuations will continue based on current market conditions, different political forces, storage positions, weather, and other external factors


We submit that consumers already have smoothing and

Volatility reducing tools available to them in the marketplace; for example, the utility options include equal billing, QRAM, and the PGVA, along with the existing risk management system, or, alternatively, the ability to purchase supply products from a competitive gas marketer.


Union indicates in Exhibit D.1, tab 1, page 17, lines 9 through 16, the benefits of the proposed fixed-cost purchase plan.  Yet, when asked in various interrogatories how the benefits were derived or where Union is asked to provide the rationale or any quantitative analysis used, Union is unable to do so.


In Exhibit J.7, '07, Union comments that it does not have any documents relating to the selection of 20 percent as the amount to be purchased on a fixed-cost basis, and further notes that the 20 percent level was based solely on its own judgement.  Union feels 20 percent is a reasonable and balanced level for fixed-cost purchases and that the 20 percent level will allow for some longer-term contracts to be included in its portfolio, and is consistent with the objective of reducing volatility.


Further, Union believes that a 20 percent level is small enough that it will not impede customer migration from sales to direct purchase.

     It should be noted that Union did not undertake any studies and cannot demonstrate the appropriateness of the proposed plan.  In fact, Union can only provide comments, feelings, and otherwise arbitrary views on the outcome of the proposal.

     Union indicates that it has financial tools available to it as part of the approved risk management plan, and believes that as a result of this ability, it is appropriate for it to undertake the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan. 


Union further comments that the impetus for bringing the plan forward for the Board's approval comes as a result of its participation in the natural gas forum.

      Essentially, Union is seeking pre-approval of this plan.  OESLP notes at page 72 of the Natural Gas

Forum report, dated March 30th, 2005, that the Board indicates:

"It is not in favour of new long-term utility contracts at this time."

The Board goes on to say at page 73:

"Given the importance of security of supply and to provide greater clarity in the marketplace the Board will offer utilities the opportunity to apply for pre-approval of long-term supply and/or transportation contracts."


In this case, Union Gas is not asking the Board to review a contract or contracts, but is asking for the Board's pre-approval of a plan or process, with no opportunity for a prudency review.

     OESLP submits that the Board should deny Union's request for pre-approval of this process, since no specific contract has been produced and no review of the appropriateness of Union's plan can be undertaken.

     One of the Board's responsibilities should be to ensure that undesired consumer risk and consequences are minimized.  We are of the belief that it is not Union's role to smooth pricing but to instead provide a basic supply offering which reflects current market pricing.  Taking long positions puts additional risk on to ratepayers.

     Customers that are seeking greater price certainty should have the opportunity to avail themselves of the competitive supply options offered by natural gas marketers.

     Union's risk management plan necessitates credit security arrangements.  If Union opts for a financial transaction instrument, the credit requirements move to tier 1 from tier 2.  Union's system-gas procurement and risk management policy and procedures, Exhibit D.1, tab 1, appendix A, page 9, lays out the credit requirements for tier 1 transaction.  The requirements state that counterparties require an A credit rating by at least one acceptable rating agency.  


The section goes on to say:

“In special circumstances, a counterparty without an A rating and without a parent or affiliate guarantee may be approved.”


It should be noted that all that is required is the finance representative on the Commodity Risk Committee or his or her designate to approve this request.   


Long-term gas supply contracts can result in pricing that's not reflective of current market conditions and added risk.  Union Gas indicates that the sales service customers, not the shareholder, would bear this risk associated with the fixed price purchase plan.

      OESLP is not in favour of the LDC being authorized to enter into long-term higher risk contracts for gas supply. 

Ontario Energy Savings LP contends that all activities involved in gas supply services, including the risk-management program, should be done in accordance with fully-allocated costing practices.

      Now, with respect to the risk-management program, issue 3.16, Ontario Energy Savings submits that utilities should only be involved in minimal risk management activities in the context of gas supply services.  Risk management activities should be for the purpose of ensuring the utility's core services are reliable and that its role of default supplier can be achieved.

      OESLP submits in a competitive environment the default supplier should be a neutral provider of service, with pricing that accurately reflects the current market. Furthermore, the practices of the default supplier must not impede customer migration or mobility.

     In conclusion, OESLP submits the Board should guard against measures that have the effect of impeding customer mobility.

      The terms and conditions of utility supply contracts should be consistent with the objectives of facilitating competition and customer choice, and these contracts must be flexible enough to allow for customer migration.

      In a competitive market, natural gas marketers will only acquire or retain customers if they provide and maintain effective customer service and competitive prices for similar products.

      Market participants will attempt to differentiate themselves from other competitors and the utilities' offering in terms of service offering, terms and conditions, price, and service quality.

     OESLP recommends the Board deny Union's application for a 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan as a further volatility smoothing instrument, for the reasons provided in this submission.  We contend that Union has not provided a set of persuasive arguments, and in fact has only provided its judgement and beliefs concerning the program's intended purpose.

     OESLP opposes the continuation of the risk-management program, given its purpose of merely smoothing the impacts of market prices.  


OESLP believes that there is value in ensuring consumers have direct experience of the actual price of the commodity they consume.  Flattened prices are a disincentive to conservation initiatives in that they do not provide an accurate reflection of true market conditions.

      I would suggest that all of this begs the valid question as to whether the cost of the program support the desired outcome.

     In the view of OESLP, the smoothing of price volatility sends inaccurate signals to consumers and blurs price transparency, both of which will always be essential considerations in a competitive market.

     This concludes the submission of Ontario Energy Savings LP.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One question, Ms. Ruzycki.  How does the risk-management program impede mobility?

     MS. RUZYCKI:  In Ontario Energy Savings' view, it would impede mobility by sending out the inaccurate price signals to customers.  When the market price is higher or lower, the customers may be locking into contracts without accurate education as to what the pricing should be.

    And also, by -- also with the 20 percent, there could be a possibility that it would hinder the ability of customers to move from system supply to direct purchase.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Ruzycki.  

     We'll take our afternoon break before we hear from Mr. Adams.  As I said, we'll take half an hour.  So we'll resume here at ten minutes past 3:00.

--- Recess taken at 2:41 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 3:19 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. McIntosh?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MacINTOSH:

MR. McIntosh:  David McIntosh, here offering argument on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  With me today is Don Adams, who Energy Probe has called as a witness on the risk management issues.  Mr. Adams will not be offering argument, but will assist me should the Board Panel have questions.  I wish to mention that I'm prepared to ask for Mr. Adams' assistance at any time if questions arise either during argument or at the end.

     And so, first, we turn to the risk management set of issues.  And I might mention at the beginning that the counsels for VECC and CCC in their arguments built a straw man purporting to provide the Board with the positions of Energy Probe, and then proposed to dismiss them.  So Energy Probe does not adopt Vic’s and CCC's description of its positions and requests that the Board permit Energy Probe to provide its own positions.

     The applicant, through the very able presentation of argument in-chief by Mr. Smith, would have this Board Panel believe that there was no new evidence offered up in this round of the debate on the value of risk management to the natural gas consumers in their franchise area.

     Energy Probe submits that its own pre-filed evidence was new, based on new research, and it is, of course, correct, as Mr. Smith pointed out, that the applicant's pre-filed evidence contained little that was new.

     The new evidence that the applicant did file only came out of Mr. Smith's bag when the right questions were asked on cross-examination of Union's risk management panel.

     It was prepared by the applicant to be used only if the opponents of its risk-management program were probing specific areas.  In fact, at one point Mr. Smith seemed reluctant to admit to the Board Panel Chair that there was more than one sheet of prepared but not pre-filed material.  And we point to that at transcript volume 1, page 112, beginning at line 7:

"Mr. Smith:  Very simply, the one document. I apologize."

     And again at transcript volume 1, page 113, beginning at line 16:

"Ms. Nowina:  All right.  I'm not certain of your response regarding the second document. 

Do you want to file that now?”

“Mr. Smith:  That's fine.  I mean, I would rather ... although it hasn't been elicited in any question, I would rather just get it out there so we can avoid the suggestion that we're holding back, which we’re not."


So we will turn to what the applicant is holding back, as it were, further on in our argument.  And what it appears to be holding back is the real cost, bottom-line cost, to consumers of the risk-management program.  But we'll get to that presently.  


You may wonder why I bring particular emphasis to this rather unfortunate incident involving Mr. Smith and his prepared but not pre-filed documents.  And it is precisely to demonstrate the reluctance of the applicant to fully engage in the examination of Issue 3.16, the appropriateness of the gas cost risk-management program, even after losing its argument to exclude it at Issues Day.

     The applicant's responses to interrogatories by parties on risk management were cursory.  The applicant asked no interrogatories on Energy Probe's new pre-filed evidence and prepared documents to file should certain questions be asked in cross-examination.

     So, as a result of dialogue between the Chair and the applicant's counsel, both M1.9 and M.1.10 were offered into evidence.  And the third new evidence provided by the applicant came as a result of Mr. Adams' request for a document to assist in understanding the impact of risk management on the cost of commodity to the customer, rather than the impact to Union.

     In other words, Mr. Adams requested a document to assist the Board to understand documents M.1.9 and M.1.10, and that document was entered as M.2.2.

     Turning now to Mr. Warren’s cross-examination of the applicant's risk-management panel on May 23rd, specifically to transcript volume 1 at page 99, line 8, where Mr. Warren drives right to the nub of the matter in respect to the risk-management program of the applicant:

"Mr. Warren:  Has your hedging activity had a material effect on volatility, and if so, how?”

“Ms. Piett:  We measure our volatility against the month prices on NYMEX and our program has reduced volatility over the last eight years by 39 percent."

     A most impressive response.

     Unfortunately, Mr. Warren was one question away from determining whose volatility Ms. Piett was referring to.  It certainly was not the customer's volatility, as we found out later.

     It was not until early the next day that the 39 percent referred to by Ms. Piett in response to Mr. Warren, being an exaggerated claim of effectiveness by Union, was placed in proper context.

     I wish you to note transcript volume 2, page 10, beginning at line 26:

"Mr. Adams:  So when we look at the conclusion that risk management has reduced volatility by 39 percent, what we are looking at there is, and let me see if I can paraphrase this, but it's the reduction in the standard deviation of the monthly costs that Union sees in acquiring system-gas?”

“Ms. Piett:  That’s correct.”

     And again, when Mr. Adams was cross-examined by Mr. Smith on the prices Union sees in acquiring system-gas, in the transcript volume 4, page 51, starting at line 11:

"Mr. Smith:  Mr. Adams, you would agree that

Union's risk management has the effect of reducing the volatility of system-gas prices?"

"Mr. Adams:  Yes, it does."

"Mr. Smith, in its 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan also has the same effect?"

"Mr. Adams:  Yes."

     So Energy Probe does agree with the applicant that risk management does lead to reduction in the standard deviation of the monthly prices that Union sees in acquiring system-gas, but the impact on residential customers was less than 1 percent, as clarified by Mr. Millar, Board Counsel, in cross-examination of Union's panel on risk management, as shown in the transcript at volume 2, page 78, beginning at line 2:

"Mr. Millar:  So if we look at -- I think we probably agree that the number the customer cares about most is the number at the bottom of the bill, rather than the individual components that make up the bill.  If we looked at the bottom, the final number on the customer's bill, is it fair to say we wouldn't be looking at a reduction in volatility of 1 percent, it would be something about .6 percent, because we're only looking at commodity here?"

"Ms. Piett:  That's correct, I believe."


Turning to another area of risk management argument, Energy Probe Research Foundation wishes to comment on its own pre-occupation, and perhaps that of several other intervenors in this proceeding, with the costs of Union's risk-management program.

     During the course of the risk management portion of the evidentiary phase of this proceeding, several intervenors have asked questions about cost in cross-examination.  Union has provided a cost picture for risk management administration that might be described as a cost-of-service perspective, where all of the overheads are buried.  We received responses revolving around the cost of one employee, $100,000.

     Now, we can remember that in the last cost-of-service proceeding, Enbridge provided figures in the area of $500,000 to $600,000 a year, not including a figure of over $900,000 to install software to improve the tracking of its risk-management program, which, we were told by Enbridge, was imperative to invest immediately.

     Union admits to none of these additional costs.  So, as Mr. Thompson asked, why is Union fighting so hard to retain risk management?  While it is counter-intuitive to believe that both Union and Enbridge are both giving us all the facts, is it because Union is very, very much more efficient than Enbridge.  Or, if one were a bit more cynical, it is possible to believe that Union has created a PBR asset by failing to provide the Board with the fully-loaded costs of all its bits and pieces in different cost centres which together comprise the true cost of risk management.

     And how would they cash in on this asset?  In a PBR period Union could just cease risk-management activities and bank the costs and no one would notice, because there would be no impact on customers.

     Turning to the cost of risk-management instruments in the market, intervenors and the Board have never obtained the total costs of the premiums and the risk-management instruments over the course of a year, either gross or net.  

     Now, Union would no doubt say, and has said, that it does not have those figures.  Please.  This is a regulated utility that is able to track any figure that it wants to track.  If it does not have the amounts, neither gross nor net, it is only because does not want to track them.

     And why are these amounts, which the applicant says form part of commodity costs, very important?  And the answer is that if the sworn testimony of both Union and

Enbridge is correct, that the market cannot be beaten, and over the long term, the impact of risk management on the price of natural gas is zero, then the amount of cost to manage risk management, both in O&M and risk-management premiums and instrument costs, those costs are all on top of the zero results of the market not being beaten.

     If Union is directed to cease risk management, those amounts are saved.  And over the years, the gas utilities have agreed that there are significant premiums associated with the purchase of some risk-management instruments, but have never quantified them.

     Now, coming to our recommendations, the applicant freely admits that its risk-management program does not mitigate the price that the customer pays for gas commodity over the long term.  And we've learned in this proceeding that Union's risk-management program is certainly not mechanistic.  The oversight committee does make decisions on the program, including decisions on timing, and as

Mr. Simpson agreed, must take responsibility for risk-management results.

     And we know that the residential customers of Union Gas do not face price volatility in the purchase of natural gas as the concept is normally used by the general population.  Prices move four times a year, at predictable time periods.

     Customers of Union Gas Limited face price volatility in the purchase of gasoline, where the price at the pump often changes several times a day.

     The natural gas distribution utilities in Ontario tell us about the important benefits their customers receive from risk management.  But it is instructive to note that neither Union Gas nor Enbridge has ever clearly asked their customers in a survey if they're willing to pay for their utility to undertake a risk-management program that will not affect the price of natural gas over the long term.  They have never asked the clear question.

     In the past, some intervenors actually believed that risk-management programs saved residential customers money over the long term.  So they supported the concept, and they were reluctant to drop that belief even in the face of denial by the utilities and their experts.  They just didn't get it.

     Energy Probe, then, is asking the Board, at a minimum, to reject the applicant's request or a 24-month fixed-cost price plan.  It is not needed, and it is focussing the utility in the wrong direction.  It is detrimental to the ratepayer as outlined in Energy Probe's pre-filed evidence.

     Further, Energy Probe is asking the Board to order the applicant to cease its risk-management program.  The program in its entirety is contrary to the financial well-being of its ratepayers, and appears to be contrary to the mandate of the Ontario Energy Board to promote conservation.

     Energy Probe is requesting that an audit to determine the fully allocated, fully loaded costs of risk management to be stripped out of the utility as part of that order.

     In the future, Energy Probe wishes to take part in the generic hearings on QRAM, perhaps to enter argument on creating an MRAM, and to protect system-gas equal billing programs.

     Those are our submissions on risk management, and I just have a couple of words on issue 6.3.

     Energy Probe does support Union's application to increase the M1 monthly charge to $16.  The proposed rate change would reduce the interclass subsidy that currently favours smaller users relative to larger consumers within the class.

     As far as costs, Energy Probe Research Foundation adopts the submissions of Mr. Thompson in respect of costs, and requests that the Board grant 100 percent of its reasonably-incurred costs in this proceeding.

     Thank you, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. MacIntosh, what is your response to Mr. Aiken's observation, and I'm looking at M1.9, and his comparison between columns E and F?  And apart from the difference that's represented on the exhibit, the 1.2 number, his observation was to the effect that if you looked at the range of numbers to -- the rate rider necessary to clear the PGVA account, you were looking, in effect, at a 30 percent reduction in that range with risk management as opposed to without risk management.  Do you recall him saying that earlier today?

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Yes, I do, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What's your reaction?

     MR. MACINTOSH:  My expert has failed to locate the document.

     MS. NOWINA:  We'll give you a moment.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I think, sir, if you might repeat the question.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.  Maybe I can improve on it.

     Mr. Aiken performed a mathematical examination of these two columns, E and F, on M.1.9, and found that if you look at the range over the relevant period, January '03 to January of '06, that the range reflecting the amounts needed to clear -- the rate rider needed to clear the PGVA, was in fact reduced by 30 percent as a result of risk management.  

     So that in column E, for example, you have a range that goes from minus 1.6 to, I think, 2.6.  That's the maximum range.

     If you look at F, which is the column representing known risk management, the range goes from 1.7 to –- pardon me, minus 1.7 to 4.3.  And if you compared those ranges you would find that the range was reduced in column F by roughly 30 percent.  I think it's a relation between 4.2 and 6.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Correct.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What's your reaction to that?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, I think the answer to that was clarified by Board Counsel that, in the end, as far as the consumer is concerned, we're talking about 1 percent on the bill.

     I know when Enbridge did some of its surveys about how concerned people were with range of costs that they were facing and the changes, a number of them hadn't noticed. 

But if, in the end, we're only talking about 1 percent, we would suggest that by the use of equal billing, where the customer pays the same amount for 11 months but actually sees what the cost to him is, that this has very little impact on the customer.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  One additional question now,

Madam Chair.

     You've suggested that the effect of smoothing generally is to impair conservation.  Can you explain that for us?

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, if we believe that people react

based on price, and we've heard at NGEIR that gas as opposed to -- natural gas as opposed to electricity is even more sensitive to ranges of price, if we believe that people react, then if they are receiving a confusing signal, they're not going act in our best interests.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The cost for the commodity is going to be paid no matter what.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The question of when and at what rates.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  That's right.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, that means that there are times when the rate is going to be lower than the market, is going to be higher than the market.  I'm not sure that I really follow the argument that conservation, a conservation decision being made by the specific consumer with respect to the price that is being paid is really quite relevant.  Isn't it just -- I mean, added to that is the observation that came out during Mr. Buonaguro's cross-examination that you never know what the price is when you consume the product.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  That’s true.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You can't, as you may be able to do in the electricity market, say, well, the price of electricity at 12 o'clock midnight is going to be in this predictable advantageous range.  You're not going to be in a position to do that.

     So, I'm wondering how the conservation element really strikes home here.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, if we're thinking of making decisions like we might make in electricity on air conditioning, knowing what the price is if we were all metered, that would be different than in gas.  But people don't necessarily make decisions only on what occurs within one day.  And to have the apparent costs revealed to you a month later or two months later is quite different than having it revealed to you 20 months later.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, are you on the line?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, we're almost finished the proceeding.  If you are interested in making submissions on the issues in question, the risk management issues and the rate design issues, this would be your last opportunity.  I think yesterday you didn't think you would do that, but I thought I would give you one last opportunity.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  I have you on a speaker phone right now.  I'm going to try and take you off.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Crockford.  Everyone here can hear you.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  I just wanted to take you off so I could be a little more clear here.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CROCKFORD:
     MR. CROCKFORD:  All right.  Actually, I'm wondering, yesterday you gave me an extension of time to file my reconsideration request.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Until Monday.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Crockford.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  I'm wondering, last evening I had a chance to review the rules and it requires me to send it by mail, regular post, so that means I have to get it out by Wednesday or Thursday.  I'm wondering if you would allow me to file it by fax on Monday.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Crockford.  That would be fine.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  Also, do I have to serve -- I'll serve you, but do I have to serve all the intervening parties?

     MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment, Mr. Crockford.  Ms. DeMarco, did you have a comment?

     MS. DEMARCO:  Just if I can be of assistance to

Mr. Crockford, my understanding is that the rules have been applied to the Board to allow for facsimile service, and so the Board has regularly accepted e-mail and facsimile service so this may not --

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Ms. DeMarco points out, and I saw Mr. Millar nodding, that facsimile is fine, Mr. Crockford.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  Well, I don't know if I should be going into detail or not, but anyway, I think the Board should adopt Mr. Scully's argument that there should be one rate for the entire province.  Currently, the south does not share in the extra cost in the north, yet the monthly fee applies to even everybody so, in effect, the north is sharing in the extra cost of maintaining a safe distribution line down south.

     The purpose of the Act is to protect the consumer, not protect the gas companies, or otherwise there would simply be no Act, and market principles would determine the price of gas.  Therefore, it's incumbent upon the Board to protect the interests of the consumer, and that means there can only be one price.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Pardon?

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  You can go ahead if you have further submissions.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  Yes.  Also, all my issues that

I've raised are properly before Union and properly before the Board.  None of them have been decided in that settlement hearing.  And Union has advanced no defence to any of the arguments I make.   So, at this point, I believe that the Panel has to make a decision on -- I'm still going to file my reconsideration request, but the Panel has to make a decision on the issues I've raised.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, it's our view that we've already made a decision on the issues that you raised, and your request for a review is your vehicle to deal with that decision.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  Just to clarify, though.  Where is the decision regarding the issues I raised?

     MS. NOWINA:  That was a decision on the motion that you received.  Maybe Mr. Millar can help me out.

     MR. MILLAR:  May 11th was the date of that decision,

Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  That decision was issued on May 11th,

Mr. Crockford.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  How does that decision determine the issues that I've raised, though?

     MS. NOWINA:  Well, the other issues that you raised,

Mr. Crockford, were dealt with by the fact that the Board

Panel has accepted the settlement agreement, so we have accepted the positions of the applicant and the other parties regarding all the issues in the settlement agreement.  So that's the second decision.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  But those issues that were settled do not include my issues.  Not one of my issues are within that settlement agreement.

      Also, when I spoke to Mr. Millar prior to the settlement hearing taking place and I advised him that I wanted to take part by telephone conference call, he advised me to put it in writing, which I did, prior to the hearing taking place, and the approval to take part by telephone conscious call was not issued until May 23rd, I believe, 12 days after the hearing took place.

     Also, since it's based on a popularity contest, whether what gets settled, the Panel probably doesn't know this, but when the Board originally posted the notice in the papers of this proceeding, they incorrectly posted the requirement for an intervenor to take part.  Therefore, nobody, no layperson or customers have intervened.  

     So if it's based on a popularity contest, what you're basically doing is making intervenors a jury.  That's not the purpose of the Act.

     That can easily be overcome and defeated by simply having 10,000 people intervene and voting all the rest of the intervenors that are agreeing to settle to make a settlement.  And if that's the outcome of this hearing, that's the ruling of the decision -- of the Panel, then every future rate hearing that takes place I'm going to intervene on and I'm going to represent 10,000 people.  All my friends, and my brothers and friends and cousins, and we're going to outvote you.  So that's just so show that it doesn't make any sense.

     Yeah, so getting back to the decision of May 11th, that decision does not deal with the issues I've raised whatsoever.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, we've dealt with – two decisions I think, have been rendered that you have an interest in.  One was a decision on the motion where you were requesting further information.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Right.

     MS. NOWINA:  And the second is the settlement agreement which the Board Panel has approved.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  No.  The Board's settlement decision came May 23rd.

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  May 11th, the hearing wasn't even completed.

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  It was May 23rd.  So those are the two decisions that it appears you have issue with, and you have the vehicles to deal with your concerns there.

     I thank you for your submissions on the issues we are discussing today, and your support of Mr. Scully's submissions.  That's appropriate.  And I think, given that, that we will now move on to --

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay, I would like to make one more point on the rate issue; rate design.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  And that was -- I'm not sure if it was

Kitchener or Simmons [sic] that made the statement I think it was Simmons, but he stated that the rate design is based on cost.  And January, 2006, Union was given an increase in transportation costs, yet their own evidence proves that they got a reduction in transportation costs from their suppliers.  So, therefore, it's not based on cost, it’s based on profit.

     And, again, the Board is -- the purpose of the Act is to protect the consumer, not to protect the gas company.  So it's incumbent upon you to take that into consideration. 

These requests for increased rates are just outrageous. 

     I've also supplied you with an Ipsos-Reid poll, an article regarding the Ipsos-Reid poll, that customers prefer green accounts, paperless accounts.  Union already has one established so.  There's no reason -- it's costing customers over $12 million a year in the billing process.  That's over $120 million over ten years, completely wasted.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, that's not relevant to the issues that we're hearing submissions on today.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes, that's the costs, $16.  That's where it comes in.

     You're also -- these bill inserts, they're claiming the average customer has a 2600 cubic metre supply of gas per year.  It's not believable that it would be the same in the north and in the south when the temperatures are completely different.  It's the same 2600 as it was two years ago, so obviously these bill inserts offering tips are not working.

     There is a study, Union produced their expert guy from the States there, so he should be aware of the study.  But the way they have customers decrease their consumption is to offer to post their names in the newspaper if they conserve gas, and then the week before you're supposed to post the notice, you tell them that you're not going to post it.  Which upsets them, and they save even more gas.  So if Union is seriously concerned about conservation, then they need to do meaningful things to encourage people to conserve gas.  But they're not interested in that, they're interested in profit, that's the whole idea of being in business.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crockford.  Are those your submissions?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  You caught me off-guard.  I would have had more ready for you, but yeah, I'll settle with that. 

     But also, I'm seeking costs for my time here.  I've got hundreds of hours involved in this, and my issues have been signed away with them.  

Actually, that's another issue I have to ask you right now.  My issues were not assigned a number, so it's impossible that they were even signed away.  They were put within an issue, but they were not put within an issue number, so it's impossible that they were signed away by the settlement agreement.

     MS. NOWINA:  It's the Board's opinion that they were,

Mr. Crockford.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yeah, but there's got to be some evidence.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for your submissions,

Mr. Crockford.

     Mr. Millar.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I've been once again crossing off a large bulk of the submissions I had prepared, so I'll be very brief.

     Board Staff, of course, will not be taking a position on any issue, but I will raising a couple of points that the Board may wish to consider.

     I'll start with risk management.  And this has been fairly thoroughly canvassed, so, again, I intend to be brief.

     The Board has dealt with risk management a number of times, as has been pointed out.  It was heard in Union's

2004 rate case and most recently in Enbridge's, I believe it was, the 2005-0001 proceeding, and, in fact, Mr. Thompson took you to the relevant portions of that decision.

     I submit that the basic issue that the Board must deal with here is whether gas price volatility management through the utility’s risk-management program, adds material value to the utility's system-gas customers.

     The Board must ask if the evidence it has demonstrates that risk management provides a real benefit to customers in the form of a measurable reduction in volatility.

     I’ll remind that Board that the utility evidence has been that risk management -- that the objective of risk-management program is to reduce gas price volatility and it is not to beat the market.  I think we've heard that very clearly from Mr. Smith in his opening comments.

     We've heard that the incremental O&M costs to have the program are about $100,000, and Mr. Smith has submitted that's not a lot of money.  And I tend to agree with him on that.

     We've also heard a variety of figures of how much reduction in volatility we actually get for this $100,000, and we heard 39 percent, which, as I understand it, is the reduction in volatility to the utility itself; 16 percent, which is the reduction in volatility to the rate rider.  If you look at the rate rider as a portion of the total commodity cost, that works out to approximately 1 percent, if I understand the utility's evidence.  And then

Mr. MacIntosh pointed to the question I asked Ms. Piett, as to whether or not that -- what the number at the bottom of the bill, how much reduction in volatility there is there. 

And she agreed with me that it was in the neighbourhood of 

0.6 percent.

     So those are the benefits that the customer sees, in my submission.

     You heard Mr. Warren earlier today point to a passage, a discussion between Mr. Adams and Ms. Piett.  It's at volume 1 of the transcript, page 140 and 141.  And you may recall that he read you this passage where Ms. Piett pointed to that if you look at this particular quarter, and the quarter she's referring to, for ease of your reference, it's at Exhibit M.2.2.  This is the quarter where, on the left side of the page, you see March '03, and then if you follow it all the way across, you get to the minus 7 percent, Ms. Piett indicated that, for that quarter there was a swing of 1.7 cents per cubic metre, and she pointed out that if you annualize that over 3,000 cubic metres, which I think that is probably a little bit high for average use, but let’s accept that, you get $50 per year.  And there seemed to me to be a little bit of discrepancy there, if that is how that fits in with the 0.6. 

I think it's just useful to note that, and I'm certainly not suggesting that Ms. Piett did anything wrong here, but she's looked at one quarter.  And that quarter happens to be the quarter where the greatest swing existed.  So that's how, if you take that one quarter, you get adds 50 annual swing.

     But I think in fairness, that is not representative of what you would see over the course of the past 14 quarters. 

And I think that the number, 1 percent at the bottom of that schedule, M.2.2, is what you get the if you look at all 14 quarters.

     Now, Madam Chair, that's not to say that the one quarter Ms. Piett chose to look at is not relevant.  In fact, I think it is relevant, because the point of risk management is not necessarily, you look at where you stand over 14 quarters.  I think it's what the customer sees at the bottom of their bill.

     And over any single quarter, you could have a much larger swing than 1 percent, and I think this table, in fact, bears that out.  You see on that particular quarter, there was a fairly significant reduction in the volatility that the customers experienced as a direct result of the risk-management program.  So I think it's useful for the

Board to look at it from both ways, both over the long haul, the 14 quarters that they've shown you; but I would certainly suggest to you that looking at it quarter by quarter also has some value as well, because that is a price impact that the customer will see on their bill.  And there does appear to be some reduction in volatility, at least in some quarters.  I think that's what the utility is aiming at.

     Madam Chair, you've already heard about how the QRAM reduces volatility and the PGVA and equal billing.  I don't propose to go there.  You've also heard from Mr. Adams in chief, and Mr. MacIntosh today, and I don't propose to go over that.  I'm going to move on to splitting of the M2 rate class.

     Again, much of what I had planned to say has already been covered so I'll be very brief on this.

     I think the Board should consider if Union's proposal meets the directive from the 2003-0063 case, and Mr. Smith read the relevant passage to you earlier today.  Union has opted to re-design rates based on load categories.  Some intervenors have raised concerns with respect to this approach and have suggested that Union use end-use categories instead.

     It was Schools' evidence that Union's proposal is so flawed that the Board should reject the proposal and reconsider the entire approach.  Their witness advocated consideration of residential, commercial, and industrial subclasses as opposed to a simple volumetric split.  It also said that other break points should be considered, such as 7,000 and 20,000, as opposed to the 50,000.

     And they also suggested that Union should consult with parties in designing the next study.

     As has been pointed out, however, SEC's expert was unable to confirm that using an alternative approach would, in fact, lead to a better result, and that no alternative proposal was filed by any of the intervenors.

     I'll move on to the proposed increase in the fixed monthly charge.

     The Board has allowed Union too steadily increase its fixed monthly charge for residential customers over the past few years.  Several years ago it was $10 per month, then it was up to $14 per month, and the current proposal, of course, is to bring that to $16.

     The current approved monthly charge recovers approximately 60 percent of the customer-related costs in the southern operations area, and 46 percent of customer-related costs in the northern and eastern operations area.

     By increasing the monthly charge from $14 to $16 a month, Union will increase the recovery of customer-related costs to 69 percent from 60 in the southern operations area, and 53 percent from 46 in the northern and eastern operations area.

     And, if I understand Union correctly, and I'm sure Mr. Smith will correct me if I don't, but they're proposing this increase to provide a better alignment between the incurrence of customer-related costs and the recovery of customer-related costs in the monthly charge.

     Madam Chair, as you're well aware, this almost identical issue was considered in a previous case.  In that instance they were seeking a $4 increase in the monthly charge, from $10 to $14, and I'll very briefly read two sentences from that decision.  It says:

"The Board accepts that increasing the fixed customer charge for the stipulated rate classes is a measure which has the effect of increasing the recovery of fixed costs and reducing intraclass subsidy and is an appropriate element of rate design.  However, the Board is concerned that the magnitude of the proposed increase has the potential to cause concern among low-volume gas consumers who would experience an increase in their total annual bills." 


Then it goes in to phase the increase in over a two-year period.


Madam Chair, I don't think I really have much to add. 

The issues here before the Board are very much the same today.  We're talking about an absolute load increase of $2 as opposed to 4, but aside from that, I think it's largely the same issue.  The Board has heard the argument of the parties and I don't have anything more to say on that issue.  In fact, I don’t have anything more to say at all, unless you have any questions of me.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

     Mr. Smith.

     REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:
     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     As I indicated at the outset, there are, broadly 

Speaking, two issues, risk management, and rate design.  I do have some reply on both issues although I'll keep them very brief.

     I'd like to start my comments on risk management with the submissions made by Mr. Thompson on behalf of IGUA.  And these comments seem to have been adopted by a number of intervenors.  Mr. Thompson started by putting the proposition to you that with respect to risk management the proper starting point in his submission is the Enbridge gas decision rather than Union's own rate case, RP-2003-0063.

     Now, in my submission, there's a fundamental distinction between the situation Enbridge found itself in and the situation Union found itself in, in RP-2003-0063, and finds itself in today.  Not the least of which, of course, is that the fact that Union was the applicant in its own case, and, of course, not a party in Enbridge's case.

      But as I understand it, in the Enbridge proceeding there was an argument that risk management was not even on the issues list.  That was manifestly not the situation in Union's last rate case.

      In Union's last rate case, as I indicated, by agreement, risk management was retained, prepared evidence, and was cross-examined.  So there was a considerable body of evidence for this Board to consider when it made a decision respect to Union's risk-management program.

     None of that occurred, as I understand it, at least, in the Enbridge case.

     In my submission, to the extent the Enbridge case has any relevance, it's really two things.  One, as Mr. Warren commented, that it indicates an acceptance by this Board of price smoothing as an element of consumer protection; and, two, to show that the Board has an interest in knowing whether or not risk management has an actual impact in reducing the volatility experienced by customers.

     I think the answer to that, as the evidence has shown, is unequivocally yes, as Mr. Adams has acknowledged, and comes through, in my submission, loud and clear in M.1.19, M.1.10 and M.2.2.  Sorry.  


In my submission, it's ironic, actually, that IGUA is making submissions adopted by Superior and adopted by OESC about the cost benefit of risk management experienced by system-gas customers, because none of those intervenor groups represent system-gas customers.  


In fact, Energy Probe came right out and said that system-gas customers are getting a bad deal from risk management.  The system gas customers who receive the benefit of risk management are represented by counsel in this proceeding.  CCC, VECC, and LPMA, which represent the majority of the people who pay directly for risk management, are unequivocally in favour of it.

     The proposition that IGUA would have you accept, and Superior, OESC, and Energy Probe, is those customers who don't pay for risk management, don't receive the benefit of it, should deny the customers who pay for it and receive the benefit.  In my submission that would be a rather shocking result for this Board to adopt.

     Now, I'd like to make a couple of additional comments

on risk management, and there are obviously a number of people who made submissions so I'll try and do it as coherently and in the order in which the submissions were made as I can.

     Dealing first with Mr. Dingwall's submissions, he talked about the equal billing plan and made a number of submissions about issues that the Board had reconsidered in the past.  In my submission, none of his examples are apposite to this situation the Board is dealing with.  You have my comments with respect to equal billing and the fact that its effect from the smoothing effect was denied in the last rates proceeding, and of course it does nothing to reduce the total volatility the way risk management does -- it's complementary.  


I'd also point out the evidence from volume 2, page 61, that only 64 percent of Union’s customers are on the equal billing plan, so there's a considerable number of them who don't avail themselves of that smoothing benefit.

     Mr. Dingwall, and indeed Ms. DeMarco, I believe, took you to Exhibit 1.9 and looked at the first two columns, column A and column B, and attempted to draw the conclusion between those columns that there was not a significant benefit to risk management.  And I don't need to draw your attention to it because this was dealt with any number of times by Ms. Piett in her evidence. 
     The suggestion was put a number of times:  Look at column A, look at column B, aren't the price it is same? 

And Ms. Piett responded repeatedly, if you would like to

know the actual benefit of risk management, you need to look across, under the section dealing with PGVA activity and the risk management impact on PGVA clearing, because that's where you see the costs and the benefits coming up, and what she was talking about there is the settlement figures don't show up in columns A and column B.

     With respect to Ms. DeMarco's submissions, you have my submissions on the impact on competition and conservation, and in my view, Ms. DeMarco's submissions did not respond to that.  There is fundamentally no evidence to support any argument that there's been a deleterious impact on competition; in fact, the Board found just the opposite in the last proceeding.  And apropos Member Sommerville's comment, there does not appear to be any evidence on conservation.

     With respect to her comments on the 24-month program, of course Union is not seeking pre-approval of specific contracts in this proceeding, and in my submission the scare-mongering with respect to affiliate transactions raised by Ms. DeMarco, Energy Probe, and Mr. IGUA -- Mr. IGUA -- Mr. Thompson, he may be Mr. IGUA, are entirely inappropriate, have been denied by Mr. Simpson who said unequivocally that there's in fact, no affiliate who could enter into these transactions.  And similarly, that they'd be subject to the Affiliate Relations Code in any event.

     With respect to the prudence review, of course this

Board always has the jurisdiction to deny costs, and 

Mr. Scully hit the nail on the head when he indicated that the rubber hits the road in the clearing of deferral accounts.  And if there were contracts, which Mr. Simpson has said there will not be, which are not prudent, because they're not entered into at market, well, then, that would be the appropriate time for the Board to consider the issue.

     With respect to Ms. DeMarco's reference to the 1 percent found on, I believe it's Exhibit M.2.2, which

Mr. Millar then subsequently shaved down to – subsequently shaved down to 0.6, there's two points.

     I suppose first, the reference to the 3 cents being the difference between 26.6 and 26.3 on the left-hand side of Exhibit M.2.2, that comparison by Ms. DeMarco is subject to the same frailties as Mr. Dingwall's reference to A and B, because, of course, it doesn't include the settlements.

     Turning to the right-hand side, 1 percent may not seem like a big number, but it's 1 percent of a very large number.  It's 1 percent of Union's system-gas procurement costs, which, as the Board will have evidence on in this proceeding, is close to a billion dollars.  It may be 900 million some years, it may be a bit more, but it's a very, very large number.  So 1 percent is not big on its own, but it's 1 percent of a very big number.  

     And I fully endorse what Mr. Millar said, which is that the appropriate way -- and what Ms. Piett said, in any event, that the appropriate thing to do is look to the particular quarters.  Because what risk management is doing is not changing the price of gas, it's shaving the peaks and valleys off.  

     And so it is appropriate to look at those particular quarters where there were particular benefits of risk management.  And of course I would say those benefits and those costs have all been evaluated by CCC, LPMA, and VECC, and found to be worthwhile at the cost of $104,000.

     Finally, I might say on risk management there was the suggestion by Mr. Thompson:  Why does Union care about risk management?  And again, the spectre of affiliate transactions and Energy Probe raves the spectre of some hidden costs that would be unlocked in a PBR period, there's no evidence to support any of that.  But in any event, the proposition was put squarely to Mr. Simpson.  And the answer to Mr. Adams's questions is, we're in the gas business.  This is at page twin, first volume, May 23rd.

"We're in the gas business.  The claims put forward would suggest, well, why bother? Well, we bother because it matters.  70 percent of the bill for sales service customers is roughly the commodity.  I think it should be mandated, in a sense upon us that we participate to reduce the risk to reduce to those customers as best we can."

While there isn't actually a benefit financially to Union, there's a good reason for it to be engaged in this, and it is, and as I said, the costs of its engagement are extremely modest.

     I don't think there's anything else I need to say on the issue of risk management.  Oh, the only comment I'd make, is, Ms. DeMarco referred to testimony by Ms. Piett, I believe it was at page 30, about depriving customers of money back.  Of course those wouldn't be customers of

Superior, they'd be system-gas customers and they could make that evaluation, but Ms. Piett's actual quotation was:

"Yes, there are times when they will be deprived of costs and there are times when they'll be ahead.  That’s the nature of risk management; there are two sides to the coin."

Turning to the M -- well, before we get to the M2 issue, with respect to the fixed monthly charge, Mr. Millar made the point and it's a good one.  The Board has previously dealt with this issue, and to the extent there's an appetite in the Board to phase this in over a two-year period, I would say simply that the increase that Union is seeking in this proceeding is $2.  When the Board looked at phasing in the increase in the past, that was a change from $10 to $14, so it was a $4 change that was phased-in in two $2 increments.  So what Union is really looking at is just another $2 increment.  So it's not really looking for anything different than what the Board has done in the past, and as Mr. Kitchen testified, that did not send alarm bells to Union's customer.

     And just by way of reference, that's May 25, 2006, page 142, lines 17 to 26.  Mr. Kitchen responds to a cross-examination point made by Mr. Warren.

     Turning to the M2 rate, you have my submissions with respect to Mr. Feingold's qualifications and what he's done and the appropriateness of it, and I don't think that that warrants revisiting.  I think a thorough review of the

Navigant report leads to the result that what Navigant did and what Union has done is appropriate.

     I would like to respond to one suggestion, and it may

Seem, on its surface, to be a fairly innocuous one.  And that is the request for consultation.  And that may have, in my submission, some superficial appeal.  I'll give it that.  After all, you may wonder, What's the harm in additional consultation?
     But the answer to that is, not only has a significant amount of money been spent on this endeavour already.  But, as Mr. Chernick acknowledged, and as his counsel acknowledged, rate design is a zero-sum game.  It is, by definition, an engagement of people's self-interest.  And, in my submission, the only reasonable conclusion from what

will come from further consultation is a reappearance before this Board to reconsider this very issue at further cost to all ratepayers with Mr. Chernick has acknowledged, no predictable increase in value.  So he doesn't know whether we're going to get a better result.  I'm certain we're going to be back here before the Board, arguing about the M2 split, in the future.

     And on that point, Mr. DeVellis said, Well, we have a fairly comprehensive settlement in this case.  Isn't that evidence for the fact that additional consultation will lead the parties, potentially, to a compromise?

     Well, the only person who doesn't have an interest in this game is Union.  And the only -- one of the only issues that hasn't been settled in this proceeding is the M2 split.  In fact, on a review of the last 20 years of Union's cases, there has never been a settlement of a rate design issue, and that's precisely because it's a zero sum game.  In fact, the last time Union had a comprehensive settlement, which is the 499 decision, the only panel that testified was cost allocation and rate design.  
     And here we are again with rate design, and the Board will have other examples of it, the M16 rate is another one, but it is extremely unlikely that this consultation will move the ball forward.  And the only party without any skin in the game is Union, and in my submission they are the appropriate party to bring forward proposals.  Union's rates should be Union's prerogative and, in my submission, no benefit will be gained from consultation.

     And the only point I would make on that additionally is with respect to implementation.  Mr. DeVellis commented that we might be in the same position to implement in 2008, even if we had consultation, and I believe Ms. Young dealt with this.  
     But if you look at Mr. Kitchen's testimony, at page 74, I believe, of day 2, May 26, he addressed – or May 25, he addressed the timing question.  And his evidence was the earliest we could reasonably be back before the Board is May -- sorry, is for rates effective 2009, and that's because there would be a period of consultation.  

     Of course, in my submission it wouldn’t lead to a resolution.  But even if it led to a resolution, it would require Board approval.  And of course, Union is not going to incur the costs to change its systems until that Board approval has been granted.  
     So 2006, 2007 would be dealing with consultation, Board approval.  2008 would be system re-design.  2009, at the earliest, would be implementation of this.  And in my submission, there's just simply no need for this Board to engage in that sort of costly putting off of a matter that's squarely before it today.

     Subject to any comments, those are my questions with respect to the issues.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I have one question or further submission that I'd like, Mr. Smith.

     The consultation aside, you've dealt with that,

Mr. Aiken, I think, probably gave the most detailed proposal in terms of doing a further study.  Do you have submissions on Mr. Aiken's proposal?

     MR. SMITH:  I don't have any submissions with respect to it.  I mean, it is -- I think Mr. Aiken's correct that you could get to the information if you were to employ some sort of Smart Meter and take a statistically relevant sample.

     I was going come to the point, though, that I don't know what that sample size might be.  I did put to Mr. Kitchen in examination in-chief, however, how you might go about obtaining that and whether that could be done at a modest or a reasonable cost.  And Mr. Kitchen's -- I don't have the reference at my finger tips, but Mr. Kitchen's evidence, my recollection is, is that it would actually be a fairly expensive endeavor to obtain that information.  And my recollection is that that was done in examination in-chief, not in re-examination.  I believe it was done in examination in-chief, which would mean it was done on May

25th, in the latter half of the day, because that Panel was called after lunch.

     So I did ask him whether or not it would be possible to get this load data by customer because, of course, we don't have it.  And the answer was that it might be a reasonably expensive endeavor.  
     I would also say on that point, while there might be an attraction to getting that data, Mr. Feingold's evidence was that many utilities don't have it and they design rates, and it's generally accepted that they design rates, without it.  And that's the proposal that he's brought forward, and of course it's the way in which Union has designed rates and the Board has approved rate for many, many years.

     MS. NOWINA:  I recall your exchange with Mr. Kitchen, and if I recall it correctly, I believe that it was more of a focus on getting that information for every customer as opposed to the sampling situation that Mr. Aiken suggests.

     MR. SMITH:  Yeah.  And I believe you're absolutely correct.

     And I don't want to put it higher than Mr. Kitchen's evidence was.  If it's possible to do it based on a smaller customer size, then the cost would be, presumably, lower.  I just don’t know and I don't want it to be assumed, because it may not be the case, that that cost is modest, because there are a lot of M2 customers, of course, and to sample residential, commercial, industrial, large industrial, may involve a considerable number of meters at a considerable cost.

     MS. NOWINA:  And the timing, I think even Mr. Aiken suggested 2009.

     MR. SMITH:  Yeah, and I don't have a submission in respect of that.  I mean, I think it would take some time, and I think we would not be in a position to implement rates before 2009 because, of course, to make -- Mr. Aiken's absolutely right.  To make the data meaningful, you have to do it over a considerable period of time to collect it, at least one winter.  So it would take some time.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

     Those are our questions.  Are there any matters that anyone else would like to bring forward at this time?

     MS. RUZYCKI:  Madam Chair, I may have misspoken in my response to Mr. Sommerville, and I'm just wondering if I could clarify for the record my response?

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.

     MS. RUZYCKI:  In our view, further smoothing could impede customers from accurately examining competitive service offerings which may induce the customer to stay on system supply instead of looking at competitive options.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 
With that, this hearing is adjourned.  Thank you very much for your participation.  It was a reasonably efficient hearing.
     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:26 p.m. 
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